# The Texas Medical Center Library DigitalCommons@TMC

Dissertations and Theses (Open Access)

MD Anderson UTHealth Houston Graduate School

8-2013

## Induction Of Synthetic Lethality In Mutant Kras Cells For Non-Small Cell Lung Cancers Chemoprevention And Therapy

Shaoyi Huang

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.library.tmc.edu/utgsbs\_dissertations

Part of the Medicine and Health Sciences Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Huang, Shaoyi, "Induction Of Synthetic Lethality In Mutant Kras Cells For Non-Small Cell Lung Cancers Chemoprevention And Therapy" (2013). *Dissertations and Theses (Open Access)*. 396. https://digitalcommons.library.tmc.edu/utgsbs\_dissertations/396

This Dissertation (PhD) is brought to you for free and open access by the MD Anderson UTHealth Houston Graduate School at DigitalCommons@TMC. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations and Theses (Open Access) by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@TMC. For more information, please contact digcommons@library.tmc.edu.



Induction of synthetic lethality in mutant KRAS cells for non-small

cell lung cancers chemoprevention and therapy

By

Shaoyi Huang

**APPROVED:** 

Xiangwei Wu, Ph.D., Advisor

Carlos Caulin, Ph.D.

Bingliang Fang, Ph.D.

Xin Lin, Ph.D.

Guang Peng, Ph.D.

**APPROVED:** 

DEAN, THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS HEALTH SCIENCE CENTER AT HOUSTON GRADUATE SCHOOL OF BIOMEDICAL SCIENCES

# Induction of synthetic lethality in mutant KRAS cells for non-small cell lung cancers chemoprevention and therapy

**A DISSERTATION** 

Presented to the Faculty of

The University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston

and

The University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center

**Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences** 

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the

Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

By

Shaoyi Huang, M.S.

August, 2013

Houston, TX, USA

Advisor: Xiangwei Wu, Ph.D.

### Dedication

To my wife and son, Xing liu and Danny Huang, and my parents, Shilong Huang and Chungui Pan, and my lovely friends and lab members, for all your love and supports!

#### Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank my mentor, Dr. Xiangwei Wu. His careful guidance, inspiration and support made this dissertation possible. Thank for not giving me up when I was in the predicament. I would also like to thank my previous mentor, Dr. Yinhua Yu, who led me into the world of cancer research.

I would like to thank current and previous committee members, Drs. Carlos Caulin, Bingliang Fang, Peng Guang, Xin Lin, Walter N. Hittelman, Warren Liao, Reuben Lotan, Qiang Shen and Dihua Yu. Their advices and guidance are always the driving force for me to walk through the long journey of my Ph.D. training.

I am grateful to my current and former lab members: Dr. Jennifer S. Davis, Dr. Vineet Gupta, Dr. Yannis Hara, M.D. Xiaoyang Ren, Dr. Haizhen Wang, Dr. Xianfeng Wen, Mr. Zhengming Xu, Dr. Oksana Zagorodna and Dr. Ling Zhang, for their cooperation and help in experiments, stimulating discussions and constant support.

I would also like thank my good friends, Drs. Xiaoming Chen, Robert Luo, Teddy Lee, Ming Lu, Zhiyong Ren, Jiali Si and Xi Zhou for all the support from them.

Finally, I sincerely thank all my family members: my parents, my wife and my cute son. I want to thank you for the unconditional support and love.

# Induction of synthetic lethality in mutant KRAS cells for non-small cell lung cancers chemoprevention and therapy

Publication No.

By Shaoyi Huang

Advisor: Xiangwei Wu, Ph.D.

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer death in both men and women in the United States and worldwide. Despite improvement in treatment strategies, the 5-year survival rate of lung cancer patients remains low. Thus, effective chemoprevention and treatment approaches are sorely needed. Mutations and activation of KRAS occur frequently in tobacco users and the early stage of development of non-small cell lung cancers (NSCLC). So they are thought to be the primary driver for lung carcinogenesis. My work showed that *KRAS* mutations and activations modulated the expression of TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) receptors by up-regulating death receptors and down-regulating decoy receptors. In addition, we showed that KRAS suppresses cellular FADD-like IL-1β-converting enzyme (FLICE)-like inhibitory protein (c-FLIP) expression through activation of ERK/MAPK-mediated activation of c-MYC which means the mutant *KRAS* cells could be specifically targeted via TRAIL induced apoptosis. The expression level of Inhibitors of Apoptosis Proteins (IAPs) in mutant *KRAS* cells is usually high which could be overcome by the second mitochondria-derived activator of caspases (Smac) mimetic. So the combination of TRAIL

and Smac mimetic induced the synthetic lethal reaction specifically in the mutant-KRAS cells but not in normal lung cells and wild-type *KRAS* lung cancer cells. Therefore, a synthetic lethal interaction among TRAIL, Smac mimetic and *KRAS* mutations could be used as an approach for chemoprevention and treatment of NSCLC with *KRAS* mutations. Further data in animal experiments showed that short-term, intermittent treatment with TRAIL and Smac mimetic induced apoptosis in mutant *KRAS* cells and reduced tumor burden in a KRAS-induced pre-malignancy model and mutant *KRAS* NSCLC xenograft models. These results show the great potential benefit of a selective therapeutic approach for the chemoprevention and treatment of NSCLC with *KRAS* mutations.

## **Table of Contents**

Pages
Acceptance Pagei
Title page ii
Dedication iii
Acknowledgements iv
Abstract v
Table of Contents vii
List of figures xii
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Lung cancer 1
1.2 RAS mutations in lung cancer 4
1.3 Lung cancer treatment 6
1.4 Lung cancer chemoprevention
1.5 SITEP based cancer chemoprevention12

1.6 Synthetic lethality	. 13
1.7 Apoptotic pathway and TRAIL	. 14
1.8 IAPs and Smac	. 18
1.9 Statement of problem, hypothesis and project goals	. 21

CHAPTER 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	24
2.1 Cell culture	24
2.2 Plasmids, shRNAs, and reagents	24
2.3 Antibodies	25
2.4 Infection, transfection, and drug treatment	22
2.5 Mouse Model for Tumorigenesis	26
2.6 HE and IHC staining	28
2.7 TUNEL assay	28
2.8 Statistical analysis	29

<i>BW1799 cells.</i>
3.2 Mutant KRAS up-regulates TRAIL receptor levels to facilitate TRAIL-induced apoptosis in
normal cells
3.3 Sensitization to TRAIL plus Smac mimetic mainly depends on the activation of the
MAPK/ERK pathway 34
3.4 Sensitization to TRAIL plus Smac mimetic in oncogenic KRAS-expressing normal epithelial
cells is dependent on the regulation of c-Myc and c-FLIP levels
3.5 Smac mimetic overcomes the antiapoptotic activity of XIAP to facilitate TRAIL-induced
apoptosis
apoptosis
apoptosis
<ul> <li>apoptosis</li></ul>
<ul> <li>apoptosis</li></ul>
apoptosis       38         3.6 Apoptosis induced by the combination of Smac mimetic and TRAIL treatment is independent of intrinsic apoptotic pathway.       39         3.7 Induction of carcinogenesis in a mouse model of KRAS driven lung cancer.       41         3.8 Short-term continuous TRAIL and Smac mimetic treatment inhibits lung tumor growth in KRAS transgenic mice.       43
<ul> <li>apoptosis</li></ul>

4.1 TRAIL and Smac mimetic induces apoptosis specifically in KRAS mutant lung cancer cel
lines 47
4.2 Expression of mutant KRAS sensitize KRAS wild type lung cancer cell lines to TRAIL and
Smac mimetic induced apoptosis 49
4.3 TRAIL and Smac mimetic mediate tumor growth suppression in KRAS activated lung cancer xenograft model via induction of apoptosis
4.4 Resistance in KRAS mutant lung cancer cell lines may be related to the death receptor
expression levels
4.5 Increase in DR5 expression via 5Fu stimulation or over-expression can overcome
resistance to TRAIL and Smac mimetic induced apoptosis

CHAPTER 5 Summary and Discussion	;9
5.1 Specific targeting of KRAS mutation based on synthetic lethality	;9
5.2 SITEP-based lung cancer chemoprevention via synthetic lethality against KRA	IS
mutation	50
5.3 Obstacles to apply this new strategy into clinical trial for KRAS mutar	пt
NSCLC	51
5.4 Strategies to overcome resistance	55
5.5 Prospective studies	56

Bibliog	graphy	59
0		
VITA		77

# List of Figures

Figure 1. The estimated new cases and death caused by cancers 2
Figure 2. Subtype of lung cancer
Figure 3. The RAS signaling pathway5
Figure 4. The principle of SITEP 13
Figure 5. The intrinsic and extrinsic apoptotic pathways of TRAIL
Figure 6. The family members of IAPs in mammalian cells 19
Figure 7. The Chemical structure of JP1010 20
Figure 8. Synthetic lethal interaction between TRAIL, RAc, Smac mimetics and KRAS
Figure 9. Mutant KRAS activates downstream-signaling pathways and sensitizes normal cells to
TRAIL and Smac mimetic
Figure 10. Modulation of TRAIL-receptor expression by KRAS
Figure 11. The ERK/MAPK pathway is essential for KRAS-mediated sensitization
Figure 12. c-MYC and c-FLIP are invloved in TRAIL plus Smac mimetic-induced apoptosis in mutant
KRAS–expressing cells
Figure 13. Role of XIAP in TRAIL plus Smac mimetic-induced apoptosis in oncogenic KRAS-
expressing cells

Figure 14. Overexpression of Bcl2 or Bcl-xL in KRAS mutant HBE4 cells did not rescue the cells from
death 40
Figure 15. A KRAS lung tumor mice model was established to test the effect of TRAIL and Smac
mimetic
Figure 16. Effect of TRAIL and Smac on KRAS-induced lung tumors in mice 45
Figure 17. Effect of TRAIL and Smac on lung cancer cell lines with or without mutant KRAS 48
Figure 18. Effect of TRAIL and Smac on wild type KRAS lung cancer cell line after KRAS activation. 50
Figure 19. The effects of combination treatment in the in vivo xenograft model
Figure 20. The resistance are highly relative to death receptor DR5.
Figure 21. DR5 up-regulation will- sensitize the resistant cell lines to TARIL and Smac mimetic
induced apoptosis
Figure 22. Synthetic lethality targets the KRAS mutant cells

#### **CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Lung cancer

Lung cancer, cancer originating in the lung or bronchus, remains the leading cause of cancer death in the United States and worldwide despite over 30 years of progress in early detection and standard treatment<sup>1</sup>. According to the American Cancer Society estimation, lung and bronchus cancers rank the second place in new increased cases and accounts for the most death caused by cancer in 2012 for both female and male (Fig. 1)<sup>2</sup>. Broadly, it is divided into 2 types according to the pathology: small-cell lung cancer (SCLC) and non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) <sup>3</sup>.

SCLC is an undifferentiated or low differentiated neoplasm composed of primary cell-like cells <sup>3,4</sup>. The cancer cells are usually smaller than normal cells due to mutations in the pathways controlling cell size. The mutations causing the uncontrolled cell growth majorly include retinoblastoma (RB) and P53 gene mutations <sup>5,6,7</sup>. Other oncogenes overexpression, like c-MET, MYC and BCL2, were also strongly associated with SCLC <sup>5,8-10</sup>. SCLC occurs almost exclusively in smokers and is highly aggressive due to the low differentiation grade. It is rapidly growing, and approximately 80% of patients have metastatic disease at the time of diagnosis <sup>3,4,11</sup>. Even though the SCLC is very responsive to chemotherapy and radiation therapy, such as platinum-containing agents, the tumors come back quickly in most patients<sup>12</sup>. The mechanism of drug resistance in SCLC is complicated and involved multiple factors, such as membrane protein drug pumps overexpression, enhanced cell DNA repair system and dysfunction of apoptosis system<sup>13-15</sup>.

So SCLC is very malignant and has bad prognosis. Fortunately, it only accounts for about 15-20% lung cancer cases (Fig.2)<sup>1,3</sup>.



Figure 1. The estimated new cases and death caused by cancers.

(American Cancer Society, Cancer Facts & Figures 2012. Atlanta: American Cancer Society; 2012.)



Figure 2. Subtype of lung cancer

Besides the SCLC, the most common form of lung cancer is NSCLC, which accounts for 80-85% of all lung tumors, including adenocarcinoma (25-35% of cases), squamous cell carcinoma (30–35%) and large cell carcinoma (10–15%) (Figure 2) <sup>3,16</sup>. The three subtypes of NSCLC are divided according to the cell type of origin, but there can also be mixed cell types in patients. NSCLC is diverse not only in the subtype, but also in the genetic background<sup>17-20</sup>. It usually harbors a single specific mutated oncogene that is thought to be the primary genetic "driver" gene which leads to tumorigenesis. To date, a number of driver genes have been identified including: *KRAS, BRAF, MEK1/2*, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), *HER2, PI3K* and *EML4-ALK* <sup>3,17-20</sup>. Among those genes, mutation of *KRAS* is found in 25-30% of NSCLC<sup>17</sup>.

#### **1.2 RAS mutations in lung cancer**

RAS gene was firstly discovered during the study of cancer-causing viruses in animals (Harvey JJ 1964, Kirsten 1967)<sup>21-22</sup>. Then it got the name from the rat sarcoma (Ras) and two discoverers, Harvey ras (H-Ras) and Kirsten ras (K-Ras). There was also another Ras found later in human neuroblastoma cells, so called N-Ras<sup>23</sup>. RAS, KRAS and NRAS all belong to the RAS family, which encode a family of membrane-bound 21-kd guanosine triphosphate (GTP)-binding proteins<sup>24</sup>. Those highly homologous proteins are all GTPases that act as molecular on/off switch. After binding to GTP with the help from guanine nucleotide exchange factors (GEFs), those RAS proteins will recruit and activate various downstream proteins, such as PI3K and RAF-MEK-ERK, to provide the survival and proliferation signals for the cells<sup>24-26</sup>. Because of the intrinsic GTPase activity of RAS, it will hydrolyze the bound GTP into GDP with the help of GTPase activating proteins (GAPs). Then the GDP-bound form is inactive for downstream signaling<sup>24,27</sup>.

If there are any mutations in RAS which prevent the GTPase activity of RAS, the RAS will be always RAS-GTP form and constitutively active. The most common gain function mutations in RAS include residue G12, G13 and Q61<sup>28</sup>. The mutations at residue 12 and 13 would attenuate the interaction of GAP to RAS and then block the hydrolysis of GTP by RAS protein, while the mutations at residue 61 directly abolish the hydrolysis activity of RAS <sup>28-31</sup>. Upon those mutations, RAS proteins were constitutively "on" and the downstream signaling will be activated inappropriately, which can modulate cell growth, differentiation, and apoptosis through linked receptor and non-receptor tyrosine kinases,

and finally cause the tumorigenesis <sup>24, 29</sup>. This is accomplished through multiple effectors including Mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), Signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) and Phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) signaling cascades (Fig. 3) <sup>24-26, 32</sup>. Mutations in genes which are upstream of RAS can have similar effect as well as RAS mutation, such as BCR-ABL or EGFR <sup>33-36</sup>.



Figure 3. The RAS signaling casecades.

RAS mutations have been found in approximately 30% of all human cancers, including mutations in NRAS, HRAS and KRAS<sup>24, 29</sup>. Since the downstream signals of RAS genes vary by family members, there is some correlation between specific tumor type and RAS gene mutation<sup>29, 37</sup>. For example, in adenocarcinoma of the lung, pancreas and colon, the KRAS gene is the predominantly mutated member of the RAS family, whereas in

myeloid leukemia it is primarily NRAS that is mutated <sup>38-41</sup>. HRAS mutations may be related to bladder and kidney cancers <sup>42-43</sup>.

KRAS mutations account for most of the cancer-related RAS mutations in NSCLCs <sup>38</sup>. The studies revealed that KRAS mutations accounts for 90% of RAS mutations in lung adenocarcinomas and approximately 97% of *KRAS* mutations in NSCLC involve codons 12 or 13, while KRAS mutations are rare in lung squamous cell cancer <sup>44, 45</sup>. Recent study suggests that KRAS mutations are associated with a worse overall survival in patients with NSCLC, especially in patients with adenocarcinoma and early stage <sup>46-47</sup>. And also some studies suggested that the lung cancers with KRAS mutations are more resistant to cytotoxic chemotherapy and EGFR-TKIs treatments <sup>48-50</sup>. The studies in recent two decades did not provide any effective way to treat the NSCLC with KRAS mutations.

#### 1.3 Lung cancer treatment

Symptoms of lung cancer include cough, chest pain and weight loss. However, many patients present with metastatic cancer having no obvious clinical symptoms. Diagnosis is typically made by chest x-ray or CT and confirmed by biopsy. Most NSCLC patients are detected when the cancer is already advanced <sup>51</sup>. Depending on the stage of the disease, treatment may include surgery, chemotherapy, radiation therapy, or a combination. For the past several decades, the prognosis for a lung cancer patient was poor, with only 15% of patients surviving > 5 year from the time of diagnosis <sup>52</sup>. For patients with stage IV (metastatic) disease, the 5-year overall survival rate was < 1% <sup>52</sup>.

However, the identification of certain mutations that can be targeted for therapy, has recently improved outcomes.

Targeted therapy has been established for the treatment of advanced NSCLC, such as treatment with erlotinib (Tarceva) after chemotherapy, which targets the *EGFR* mutation. But since KRAS is downstream effector of EGFR, the erlotinib has little benefit for those NSCLC patients with *KRAS* mutation <sup>48-50</sup>. In recent years, several new targeted therapies have been developed for *KRAS* mutation, such as the MEK1/2 inhibitor AZD6244 (Selumetinib) <sup>53</sup>, the BRAF inhibitor Sorafenib (Nexavar; BAY 43-9006) <sup>54</sup> and the Farnesyl Transferase Inhibitors (FTIs) <sup>55-56</sup>.

The MEK1/2 inhibitor and BRAF inhibitor function via directly binding to the MEK1/2 and BRAF individually and inhibiting the Kinase activity. The study on the MEK1/2 and BRAF inhibitors showed that the combination of Selumetinib plus docetaxel as the second-line treatment of KRAS mutated NSCLC significantly improved outcomes. The primary end point of overall survival was increased from 5.2 months to 9.4 months <sup>57</sup>. A Phase II clinical trial of Sorafenib for the treatment of NSCLC in 2012 also showed some efficacy <sup>58</sup>. The primary end point of overall survival from time of randomization was 13.7 months in the treated group versus 9.0 months in placebo group <sup>58</sup>.

The FTIs can bind to farnesyl transferase (FFTase) and inhibit the farnesylation of KRAS on the C-terminal of protein. The post-transcription modification of KRAS, including farnesylation, methylation and palmitylation, will associate KRAS protein to inner face of the plasma membrane, which is essential for RAS interaction with other proteins <sup>59</sup>.

Several Farnesyl Transferase inhibitors had been tested in clinical trials, including lonafarnib (SCH-66336), R115777 and L-778,123<sup>60-62</sup>. Even those inhibitors showed the anti-cancer activity in pre-clinical experiments and some phase I/II studies, there was no improvement in overall survival in phase II/III studies<sup>56</sup>. The failure of FTIs may be due to the alterations of farnesylation of KRAS, such as myristylation and geranylgeranylation, which will also associate the KRAS protein to the memberane<sup>63</sup>.

These outcomes for KRAS targeted therapy are promising but not very impressive. In contrast, treatment with crizotinib led to an overall survival of about 24 months in patients with an (anaplastic lymphoma kinase) ALK rearrangement, while treatment with erlotinib increased overall survival to about 27 months in patients with an *EGFR* mutation <sup>64-65</sup>. The KRAS targeting drugs also had some side effects, which cause decreased dose or interrupted dose <sup>66</sup>. Toxicity concerns, together with the relatively modest increase in survival of current KRAS targeted therapies, highlight the urgent need to develop new strategies or drugs targeting *KRAS* mutant NSCLC.

#### 1.4 Lung cancer chemoprevention

KRAS mutations are not only found in cancers but also in individuals at risk (but without cancer) who have significant tobacco exposure and are detected in 25%–40% of atypical adenomatous hyperplasia lesions, which are a potential precursor of adenocarcinoma <sup>67</sup>. This suggests that *KRAS* mutations exist not only in advanced NSCLC, but also appear to be an early event in human NSCLC development, and may be regarded

as the driving event of NSCLC <sup>67-70</sup>. So KRAS mutations could be the good target for cancer chemoprevention.

Cancer chemoprevention is the use of synthesized drugs or natural compounds to suppress or slow down the carcinogenesis process or prevent the recurrence of a tumor after successful treatment <sup>71</sup>. Cancer chemoprevention represents an important facet of cancer research because cancer, especially late-stage cancer, remains the second killer in U.S.A and worldwide <sup>72</sup>. Many years of research has led to great improvement in our understanding of the molecular mechanisms of cancer and to the development of various advanced treatment procedures. However, progress has been slow in the long-term survival rate for patients with most solid tumors. The difficulty in treating late-stage cancer results from its intrinsic property: genomic instability. The current chemotherapy and radiotherapy may not kill 100% of the cancer cells and the remaining cells exhibit poor drug response, which is in part responsible for the high relapse rates in cancer treatment. Cancer is a multi-step disease, the development of which requires multiple genetic and epigenetic changes <sup>3, 73</sup>. Chemoprevention targets tumor development at early stages, including tumor initiation and promotion when the cancer genome remains relatively stable. Since the most difficult obstacle in cancer treatment is genomic instability, bypassing it using this approach holds great potential.

However, only a few molecular targets have been identified and the molecular basis for chemoprevention is poorly understood. To date only about 13 agents are FDA approved for cancer chemoprevention. They include Tamoxifen, Raloxifene, HPV vaccine,

Celecoxib and Fluorouracil<sup>74</sup>. Tamoxifen and Raloxifene are approved to reduce the risk of breast cancer incidence in high-risk women <sup>75-76</sup>. The HPV vaccine is approved for the prevention of cervical and anal cancers caused by HPVs<sup>77</sup>. Celexcoxib is a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) and specific COX-2 inhibitor which has been shown to decrease the number of adenomatous colorectal polyps in FAP patients as an adjuvant to regular care (such as endoscopic surveillance and surgery)<sup>78</sup>. Fluorouracil (5Fu) is used as a chemotherapy drug to treat several types of cancer including colon, rectum, and head and neck cancers. It was recently approved by the FDA for topical treatment of actinic keratosis (AKs)<sup>79</sup>. Untreated AKs can become squamous cell carcinomas (SCC), the second most common form of skin cancer. In addition to these approved drugs, more agents are being investigated in labs for use in chemoprevention <sup>74, 80-82</sup>. Phytochemicals, including curcurmin and genistein, represent a popular class of potential chemoprevention agents <sup>83-</sup> <sup>84</sup>. Based on epidemiological studies, it has been demonstrated that these compounds have anti-inflammatory activities and can reduce the risk of carcinogenesis <sup>85</sup>.

Despite the handful of FDA approved chemoprevention drugs, there are still a lot of difficulties in current chemoprevention strategies. For those phytochemicals, the mechanism of anti-inflammatory activity remains unclear. Without a precise assessment of the mechanisms, it is unlikely that phytochemicals will be recommended for testing in human clinical trials. Even for those approved chemoprevention drugs; successful treatment requires long-term administration, which can lead to toxicity, high cost and resistance. For lung cancer, some agents, such as COX2 inhibitors, have shown activity against lung cancer in animal <sup>86</sup>. However, in clinical trials the effect is not very obvious and

long-term continuous administration is required, which causes safety concerns <sup>87</sup>. Even the approved chemoprevention drugs, Tamoxifen and Raloxifene, achieved 50-70% reduction in incidence of invasive breast cancer in the treatment arm, toxicity and resistance are still notable concerns <sup>74, 88</sup>. In an effort to overcome these challenges, we need to develop new chemoprevention approaches that can specifically target premalignant tumor cells or malignant tumors.

In the lung cancer field, there are also some drugs and methods being studied specifically targeting chemoprevention. Several natural products have been tested in clinical trials for lung cancer chemoprevention in smokers, including beta-carotene, retinol, Vitamin E or N-acetylcysteine <sup>89-93</sup>. Unfortunately, these trials showed either neutral or harmful primary endpoint results in primary, secondary or tertiary prevention <sup>89-93</sup>. Trials of aspirin and selenium also had little to no positive effect <sup>94-95</sup>. Recently, there have been a number of studies focused on NASIDs for lung cancer chemoprevention, particularly the COX-2 inhibitors <sup>96-97</sup>. This is because inflammation has been correlated with carcinogenesis and COX-2 over-expression has also been observed in former smokers. Additionally, COX-2 over-expression is shown to be a poor prognostic indicator in NSCLC <sup>98-99</sup>. The most well-known COX-2 inhibitor is celecoxib, which inhibits the production of PGE2 and reduced the Ki-67 labeling index in active smokers in a phase II clinical trials <sup>100</sup>. However, the large scale chemoprevention trials of celecoxib had only neutral results <sup>96-97</sup>. There is still no clear path for the development of lung cancer specific chemoprevention strategies.

#### **1.5 SITEP based cancer chemoprevention**

For most traditional approaches of chemoprevention, it usually applies the agents to modulate the tumorigenic pathways rather than eliminate large numbers of premalignant or malignant cells, which will also affect the normal cells <sup>101</sup>. To keep the toxicity to the minimum or the lowest tolerated level of patients, only very limited dose of agents had been applied for chemoprevention, which will lead to low efficacy. To maintain the efficacy of chemoprevention, long term continuous or near continuous treatment could not be avoided, which will cause the accumulated toxicity and bring some unexpected side effects.

In contrast to those traditional long term and continuous dosing treatment for chemoprevention, a new idea called short-term intermittent therapy to eliminate premalignancy (SITEP) has been raised based on the synthetic lethality strategy <sup>102</sup>. The core goal of SITEP is to reduce the long-term toxicity, while maximizing efficacy, by using short term and intermittent treatment to prevent cancer. This goal can be achieved because of the nature of carcinogenesis. Carcinogenesis is a multistep process that involves the accumulation of many genetic and epigenetic changes <sup>3, 73, 89</sup>. Typically only a few crucial mutations will drive normal cells to become premalignant cells and finally malignant cells. The SITEP approach is to kill the premalignant cells by targeting the crucial mutations via short term and intermittent treatment. Intermittent treatment can reduce the number of premalignant cells and ultimately decrease the patient's risk of developing cancer between treatment cycles (Fig 4).



**Figure 4. The principle of SITEP.** The number of premalignant tumor cells is positively proportional to the cancer risk in patients. Intermittently eliminating premalignant tumor cells with short time treatment should dramatically decrease the cancer risk and subsequently inhibit or delay cancer development.

(Xiangwei Wu and Scott M. Lippman, Nature Reviews: Cancer, 2011, vol 11)

#### **1.6 Synthetic lethality**

One of the key factors for SITEP is to eliminate a large numbers of premalignant cells by a short term treatments. That requires potent and selective killing effects on the premalignant cells in a short time. Synthetic lethality might be an appropriate strategy for that purpose.

Synthetic lethality means the cell death could be induced by the combination of mutations in two or more sensitive genes, while mutation of single gene alone is not sufficient to induce cell death <sup>102</sup>. Compared to the current cytotoxic drugs, the synthetic lethality approach has the advantage of inducing apoptosis selectively and precisely in those mutated cells while not harming the normal cells. Compared to the current targeted therapy drugs, such as the kinase inhibitors or antagonists, synthetic lethality has the advantage of changing the targeting effect from cytostatic to cell death, which is more efficient and less toxic. Based on the idea of synthetic lethality, it is recently reported that apoptosis could be induced specifically in the premalignant cells with particular gene mutations, BRCA1/2 mutation <sup>103</sup>. Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) inhibitors hinder base-excision repair and cause cell death in BRCA1/2 deficient cells due to DNA damage and could be used to target the BRCA1/2 mutant breast premalignant cells. Our lab also reported that Retinoic Acid (RAc) plus TRAIL, which targets the APC deficient colorectal premalignant cells, have the potential to be effective chemopreventive agents <sup>104</sup>. RAc plus TRAIL induces apoptosis only in the APC deficient cells due to the up-regulated cMyc level, resulting in reduced cFLIP levels, will sensitize the cells to TRAIL triggered extrinsic apoptosis. The outcome of animal experiments with APC/Min mice has proved the great potential for chemoprevention.

#### **1.7 Apoptotic pathway and TRAIL**

Apoptosis is one type of Programmed Cell Death (PCD) which exists in difference organisms <sup>105</sup>. It is usually characterized by distinct morphological changes, energy-dependent biochemical cascades and finally cell <sup>105-106</sup>. The morphological changes include membrane blebbing, cell shrinking, chromatin condensation, and chromosomal DNA fragmentation <sup>105-106</sup>. The intrinsic biochemical processes include activation of caspase cascades, protein cleavage, protein cross-linking and DNA breakdown <sup>105-107</sup>.

Caspases are a family of proteases which are able to cleave proteins at aspartic acid residues<sup>108</sup>. So far about 10 caspases have been identified and categorized into 3 groups. They are initiators (caspase-2,-8,-9,-10), effectors or executioners (caspase-3,-6,-7) and inflammatory caspases (caspase-1,-4,-5) (14). Pro-caspases can be activated through either intrinsic or extrinsic apoptotic pathways by cleavage <sup>108-109</sup>. The intrinsic apoptotic pathway activates caspases via permeabilization of the mitochondria and release of proapoptotic proteins into the cytoplasm, such as cytochrome c, Apaf-1 and second mitochondria-derived activator of caspase (Smac)<sup>110-112</sup>. Cytochrome c and Apaf-1 form a multi-protein complex known as the "apoptosome" and initiate activation of the caspase cascade through cleavage of caspase-9<sup>111</sup>. The extrinsic apoptotic pathway activates the caspases via transmembrane death receptors such as tumour necrosis factor receptor 1 (TNFR1), Fas/CD95 and TRAIL receptors (DR4/5) <sup>112-113</sup>. As death ligands bind to these receptors, the death inducing signaling complex (DISC) is formed leading to initiation of the caspase cascade through cleavage of caspase-8/10<sup>114</sup>. Once caspase-8/10 is activated, the downstream caspases are triggered, and the cell undergoes apoptosis <sup>112-114</sup>.

Researchers observed apoptotic cells in different cancers and found that a high rate of apoptosis is correlated with slow growing tumors, and increased apoptosis was also observed in tumors treated with radiation or chemotherapy <sup>115</sup>. Elsewhere, researchers reported that failure of apoptotic activation may promote cancer growth and even cause <sup>116-117</sup>. This may be the case in tumors with Bcl-2 overexpression not only survives the removal of growth factors, but is also resistant to chemotherapy <sup>116</sup>. Taken together, this indicates that induction of apoptosis may be an interesting approach for

cancer treatment. Agents that can restore the apoptotic signaling pathways may specifically kill the cancer cells, which require these apoptotic defects to survive. A lot of studies have focused on these agents, which has opened the door into a new type of anticancer drugs and treatment strategies <sup>118-120</sup>. This class of drugs includes Bcl-2/Bcl-xL inhibitors, Bcl-2/Bcl-xL siRNA, XIAP siRNA and caspase activating drugs. Among them, the death receptor ligand tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) is a popular candidate and has great potential <sup>116</sup>.

TRAIL was first cloned in the 1996<sup>121</sup> and following studies showed that TRAIL forms a homotrimer and binds to its death receptors 4 and 5 (DR4, DR5) on the cell surface <sup>122</sup>. Both DR4 and DR5 have 2 extracellular cysteine-rich domains and one cytoplasmic death domain (DD) <sup>122</sup>. Upon binding to TRAIL, DR4 and DR5 also form homotrimers or heterotrimers and recruit Fas-associated death domain (FADD) through the DD interaction <sup>123-124</sup>. Then FADD recruits amino terminal death effector domain (DED)-containing apoptosis initiating proteases, caspase-8/10 via its own DED domain <sup>123-124</sup>. The cytoplasmic DD domain of DR4/5, the FADD and the caspase 8/10 form a death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) <sup>123-124</sup>. The formation of DISC will cause caspase-8/10 auto-cleavage and active, which will trigger the downstream process including cleavage of downstream effector caspase-3/7 and DNA fragmentation <sup>125</sup>. In addition to DR4 and 5, three decoy receptors of TRAIL, DcR1, DcR2 and OPG, can also interact with TRAIL. These decov receptors may exist in both membrane-bound and soluble form <sup>126</sup>. When bound to the membrane, the lack of functional cytoplasmic signaling domains will block the TRAIL induced death signaling <sup>126</sup>. Upon TRAIL binding to DR4 or DR5, death receptor mediated

apoptosis can be inhibited by a protein called cellular FADD-like IL-1 $\beta$ -converting enzyme (FLICE)-like inhibitory protein (c-FLIP), which binds to FADD and pro-caspase 8/10 and prevents the cleavage of pro-casepase 8/10 (Fig.5) <sup>127</sup>.



Figure 5. The intrinsic and extrinsic apoptotic pathways of TRAIL

In recent years, TRAIL has shown the great potential as an anti-tumor candidate by selectively killing a wide variety of human tumor cell lines without harming normal cells <sup>125</sup>. This discovery resulted in the rapid development of cancer therapeutics targeting this pathway. The TRAIL pathway has been targeted for clinical application by at least two approaches: recombinant human TRAIL (rhTRAIL) ligand and agonistic antibodies against DR4 and DR5 <sup>126-129</sup>. The toxicity of rhTRAIL and the DR4/DR5 monoclonal antibodies (Mapatumumab and Apomab) has been evaluated in a variety of animal assays, with little or no toxicity <sup>128-129</sup>. Both rhTRAIL and TRAIL agonists have been moved to in phase II clinical trials <sup>125</sup>. TRAIL showing low toxicity to normal cells usually depends on the overexpression of decoy receptors to prevent TRAIL–induced apoptosis by either binding competition or another mechanism <sup>130</sup>. Tumor cells frequently develop strategies to resist TRAIL induced apoptosis, including overexpression of decoy receptor, cFLIP and Inhibitors of Apoptosis Protein (IAPs) <sup>131-134</sup>.

#### 1.8 IAPs and Smac

IAPs belong to a family of proteins which inhibit caspase activation by binding to them and preventing cleavage of their substrates. All IAPs consist of one or more baculoviral IAP repeat (BIR) domains while some IAPs also contain a RING domain which acts as an E3 ubiquitin ligase. X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis (XIAP) and cIAP1/2 are examples of RING domain containing IAPs. The most well characterized mammalian IAP is XIAP, which can bind to and inhibit caspases-3, -7 and -9 via its BIR domains (Fig. 6) <sup>135</sup>.





(Stefan J. Riedl and Yigong Shi, Nature Reviews: Molecular Cell Biology, 2004, Vol 5)

To overcome the blockade of IAPs, TRAIL-induced extrinsic apoptotic pathway therefore requires help from the intrinsic mitochondrial pathway via caspase-8 cleavage of BH3 interacting domain death agonist (Bid) <sup>136</sup>. Truncated Bid (tBid) can interact with Bax and Bak and induces the oligomerization of Bax and Bak in the mitochondrial membrane, which leads to activation of the intrinsic apoptotic pathway and release of Smac from the mitochondria <sup>136</sup>. Smac subsequently binds to the BIR domain of the IAPs, relieving the blockade and leading to apoptosis <sup>137-138</sup>.

Smac is a 25-kDa protein which is expressed in mitochondria and is released during the apoptosis <sup>139</sup>. Experiments using recombinant proteins have shown that caspase inhibition by IAPs can be relieved by the addition of IAP antagonist *in vitro* <sup>140.</sup> Hence the molecules that mimic the binding interactions between IAPs and Smac, referred to as Smac

mimetics, are being designed as a novel class of anticancer drugs through targeting IAP proteins, and thus sensitizing cells to induction of apoptosis. So far there have been numerous reports showing that different Smac mimetics have strong anticancer activities <sup>141-145</sup>. Several Smac mimetics are being tested in clinical trial, such as TL32711 in phase I study of adult patients with advanced solid tumors and lymphoma <sup>141</sup>. For this drug, no dose-limiting toxicities have been observed and there is strong evidence of anti-tumor activity. Other Smac mimetics being tested include LCL161 (Novartis) <sup>142</sup>, GDC-0917 (Genentech) <sup>143</sup>, HGS1029 (Human Genome Sciences) <sup>144</sup> and AT-406 (Ascenta) <sup>145</sup>. Our lab received Smac mimetics JP1584 from Joyant Pharmaceuticals (Dallas, TX) as a gift. The JP1584 is a small molecule and the secondary generation of Smac mimetics developed by Joyant Pharmaceuticals. It is derived from the first generation of Smac mimetics JP1010, which is a synthesized dimeric peptide (Fig. 7)<sup>146</sup>.



Figure 7. The Chemical structures of JP1010.

#### 1.9 Statement of problem, hypothesis and project goals

Lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer death in both men and women in the United States. Despite improvement in treatment strategies, the 5-year survival rate of lung cancer patients remains low. Thus, effective chemoprevention and treatment approaches are sorely needed.

Recently our lab published a paper in Nature, which reported a synthetic lethal interaction between TRAIL, RAc and the APC gene (Fig. 5) <sup>104</sup>. We showed that TRAIL and RAc cooperatively induced apoptosis in APC-deficient cells without harming normal cells. Furthermore, short-term treatment with TRAIL plus RAc significantly reduced polyp numbers by up to 90% in APC-deficient mice. These results suggest that the combination of TRAIL and RAc have great potential in eliminating premalignant tumor cells and preventing tumor-related death in these animals.

The APC-deficiency mediated cMyc up-regulation is the key factor that sensitizes the cells to TRAIL plus RAc combination treatment. It was also reported that KRAS activation can up-regulate cMyc<sup>147</sup>. Considering the fact that mutations and activation of KRAS occurs frequently in NSCLC and these changes are thought to be primary drivers for lung carcinogenesis, I hypothesized that the premalignant lung cells and lung cancer cells with KRAS mutations could be specifically targeted for TRAIL induced apoptosis (Fig.8).



#### Figure 8. Synthetic lethal interaction between TRAIL, RAc, Smac mimetic and KRAS

The Inhibitors of Apoptosis Proteins (IAPs) in those cells with abnormal KRAS activation are usually up-regulated to antagonize apoptosis. The blockade can be overcome by the Smac mimetics, as reported in the literature <sup>132</sup>. Since KRAS mutation is also preserved in malignant stages, it is reasonable to propose that combination treatment could also be efficacious in the treatment of cancer.

Pursuing a new approach to specifically kill premalignant cancer cells would enable us to develop a more effective strategy for cancer prevention. In this way, we could make chemoprevention work like therapy to reduce the duration of treatment. The SITEP approach, applying synthetic lethality to target KRAS dys-regulation, will also minimize the potential side effects and reduce the costs associated with long-term therapy.
Given this information, we hypothesize that the co-treatment of TRAIL, RAc and Smac mimetic will induce a synthetic lethal interaction specifically in the mutant-KRAS cells, and that this approach may be applied as a new method to prevent and treat NSCLC with KRAS mutation.

### **CHAPTER 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS**

### 2.1 Cell culture

The immortalized human bronchial epithelial (HBE) cell line HBE4-E6/E7 (HBE4) was purchased from ATCC. BW1799 cells were kindly provided by Dr. Reuben Lotan of M.D. Anderson Cancer Center and were maintained in Keratinocyte-SFM medium (Life Technology, Grand Island, NY). Lung cancer cell lines NCI-H322, NCI-H661, NCI-H460, NCI-H358, NCI-H157, A549, NCI-H2122 and NCI-H1299 were all purchased from ATCC and maintained in RPMI 1640 medium (Thermo Scientific , Rockford, IL) supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) and 1% antibiotics (penicillin/streptomycin).

#### 2.2 Plasmids, shRNAs, and reagents

The retroviral plasmid expressing a mutant KRAS (KRASV12) was reported in previous paper <sup>156</sup> and generously provided by Dr. Jinsong Liu from UT M.D. Anderson Cancer Center. ERK dominant-negative and AKT/PKB dominant-negative constructs were generously provided by Dr. Mien-Chie Hung from UT M.D. Anderson Cancer Center. The long form c-FLIP construct was generated in pcDNA3.1 (Life Technology, Grand Island, NY) by cloning cellular c-FLIP cDNA from total RNA of Hela cells, as previously reported <sup>136</sup>.The DR5 expression plasmid was provided by W. El-Deiry. The c-Myc-shRNA was generated in pSUPER and the target sequence is 5'-TTCAAGAGA-3' <sup>104</sup>. XIAP-shRNA was purchased from Open Biosystems. Recombinant soluble rhTRAIL protein was purified according to published methods<sup>157</sup>. In the purification, the B-PER buffer and Ni-NTA agarose were purchased from Thermo Scientific <sup>146</sup>. The Fluorouracil (5Fu) was purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO). U0126 and Wortmannin were purchased from CalBiochem (Billerica, MA).

### 2.3 Antibodies

Anti–c-FLIP monoclonal antibody was purchased from ALEXIS Biochemicals (Farmingdale, NY). Anti–phospho-ERK, anti–phospho-AKT, anti–cleaved CASPASE 3, anti-CASPASE 8 and anti-DR5 antibodies were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology (Danvers, MA). Anti–c-MYC and Anti-DR4 antibody was purchased from Millipore (Billerica, MA). Anti– $\beta$ -Actin and anti– $\alpha$ -TUBULIN antibodies were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, MO). Antibodies against DCR1 and DCR2 were purchased from Imgenex (San Diego, CA). Anti-XIAP, anti-BCL2 and anti-BCL-XL antibodies were purchased from BD Transduction Laboratories (San Jose, CA).

### 2.4 Infection, transfection, and drug treatment

Retrovirus was generated by using the BOSC23 packaging cell line, and infection was carried out as reported previously <sup>158</sup>. Transfections were carried out by using Lipofectamine 2000 (Life Technology, Grand Island, NY) according to the manufacturer's instructions. For TRAIL and Smac mimetic treatment, cells growing in log phase were treated with Smac mimetic at a final concentration of 100nmol/L for 30 minutes. Then TRAIL was added to the media at a final concentration of 100ng/mL. For 5-Fu treatment, cells growing in log phase were treated with 5-Fu at a final concentration of 5ug/mL for 12-16 hours. Cells were harvested after 24 hours of TRAIL treatment. Where indicated, cells were treated with Wortmannin (200 nmol/L) and U0126 (10 mmol/L) for 30 minutes. Cell viability was determined by using Annexin V-FITC Apoptosis Detection Kit (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

### 2.5 Mouse Model for Tumorigenesis

Breeding colonies were established from LSL-Kras<sup>G12D</sup> mice acquired from the Mouse Repository of the National Cancer Institute. AdenoCre virus was purchased from the Gene Therapy Core of Baylor College of Medicine. Mice were infected according to a previously reported protocol <sup>159-160</sup>. In brief, AdenoCre-calcium phosphate (AdCre-CaPi) precipitates were prepared by placing recombinant adenovirus in 1 mL of Eagle's minimal essential media containing 1.8 mmol/L Ca<sup>2+</sup> and 0.86 mmol/L Pi. Then an aliquot of a 2 mol/L CaCl<sub>2</sub> solution was added to achieve a concentration of 4.5 mmol/L Ca<sup>2+</sup>. The solution was mixed by vortex or gentle pipetting, and the mixture was allowed to incubate for 20 to 30 minutes at room temperature. G12D mice were anesthetized with avertin at 8-12 weeks of age. AdCre-CaPi coprecipitates [5 - 10<sup>8</sup> pfu (plaque forming units)] were administered intranasally in two 62.5-μL instillations. The second instillation was administered when breathing rates had returned to normal following the first administration. Six weeks after infection, the mice were injected intravenously with Smac mimetic (3 mg/kg). Six hours later, TRAIL (3 mg/kg) was administerd by intraperitoneal (i.p.) injections. This regimen was repeated 18 hours later. Consecutive injections of TRAIL and Smac mimetic were given a total of 3 times. Injection of PBS was used as a control. For intermittent treatment, the mice were given 3 consecutive injections of TRAIL and Smac mimetic (1.5 mg/kg) within a week, left off treatment for 3 weeks, followed by another week of injections, for a total of 3 treatment cycles. The mice were sacrificed 1 day after the last treatment, and their lungs were inflated with formalin and fixed in formalin overnight.

For the xenograft model, male athymic nude mice aged 2 months were purchased from Jackson Labs. The nude mice were inoculated subcutaneously at the right flank with 1 x 10<sup>6</sup> NCI-H322, or NCI-H460 cells in 100 µl of PBS <sup>161</sup>. Treatment was started once the solid tumor reached 5 mm, mean diameter (about 12 days after NCI-H322 or NCI-H460 incubation). In treated group, 3 mice were injected intravenously with Smac mimetic (3 mg/kg). Six hours later, TRAIL (6 mg/kg) was injected i.p.. Injections were repeated 18 hours later. Consecutive injections of TRAIL and Smac mimetic were given every another day for a total of 6 treatments. To minimize measurement variability, tumors were measured every 3 days, by a single individual using the same calipers. Tumor volume was calculated using the following formula: V (mm<sup>3</sup>) = [width<sup>2</sup> (mm) x length (mm) x  $\pi$ ]/6. On day 24, mice were sacrificed and tumors were fixed in formalin overnight. All animal experiments were conducted according to the ethical standards of the U.T.MD Anderson Cancer Center Animal Care and Use Committee (ACUC).

#### 2.6 HE and IHC staining

Lung sections were analyzed by hematoxylin and eosin (HE) and immunohistochemistry (IHC) staining using an anti-cleaved caspase 3 antibody. Tissue sections were de-paraffinized and rehydrated in an ethanol series. For HE staining, sections were stained in Mayer's hematoxylin solution (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) for 2 min, then rinsed in 0.1% HCl-ethanol solution for 2 sec. The differentiation will take about 5 min in running tap water. Then the sections were stained in eosin Y solution 0.1% aqueous (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) for 3-5 min and rinsed in tap water for 30-45 sec. After checking the staining quality under the microscope, the sections were dehydrated again and mounted with mounting medium (Vector labs, Burlingame, CA). For IHC staining, the sections were blocked for non-specific binding with 5% goat serum and incubated with the primary anticleaved caspase 3 antibody for overnight at 4°C. On the second day, the sections were incubated with biotinylated secondary antibody for 1 hour at 37°C and then Avidin/Biotinylated HRP complex (Vector labs, Burlingame, CA) for 1 hour at 37°C. The DAB development were operated with the DAB Kit (Vector labs, Burlingame, CA) according to the manufactory instructions.

#### 2.7 TUNEL assay

Apoptosis in tumor sections was analyzed using Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL) staining with the kit from Sigma (St. Louis, MO). Tissue sections were de-paraffinized and rehydrated in an ethanol series. Pre-treat the

sections with proteinase K solution from the kit and incubate the sections with TdT reaction mixture for 1 hour at 37°C. Stop the reaction with stop solution and rinse the sections with PBS. Finally the sections were counterstained with 4',6'-diamidinio-2phenylindole (DAPI) and mounted with Vectashield hard set mounting medium (Vector labs, Burlingame, CA).

### 2.8 Statistical analysis

We compared differences between groups via 1-way ANOVA. Values with a P < 0.05 were considered to be statistically significant.

# CHAPTER 3 Use TRAIL and Smac mimetic for lung cancer chemoprevention

KRAS mutations are found in individuals who have significant tobacco exposure and also detected in 25-40% atypical adenomatous hyperplasia lesions, which suggests that *KRAS* mutations is an early event in human NSCLC development. And also it is reported that KRAS is one of the most important driver genes in NSCLC tumorigenesis <sup>19</sup>. So we targeted KRAS mutations for NSCLC chemoprevention. In this chapter, first I tested the response of normal lung epithelial cells with KRAS activation to TRAIL and Smac mimetic. Then I dissected the molecular basis behind the response. After confirming the effect of TRAIL and Smac mimetic co-treatment *in vitro*, I also evaluate the efficacy of the TRAIL and Smac mimetic co-treatment *in vivo* within the LSL–K-RAS G12D mice.

3.1 TRAIL and Smac mimetics specifically induce apoptosis in KRAS-activated HBE4 and BW1799 cells.

To test if TRAIL and Smac mimetics combination can eliminate the premalignant lung cells, we need to establish an *in vitro* model of the premalignant lung cancer cells. So here we introduced the activating mutant KRAS<sup>G12V</sup> into the immortalized normal lung epithelia cell lines HBE4 and BW1799. Signaling downstream of KRAS, including Erk and AKT, was increased following constitutive expression of mutant KRAS in HBE4 and BW1799 cell lines (Fig. 9A). Then, to test whether KRAS activation sensitizes

normal lung epithelial cells to TRAIL plus Smac mimetics—induced apoptosis, HBE4 cells transfected with vehicle or mutant KRAS plasmid were treated by Smac mimetic for 30min, then followed by TRAIL treatment or by Smac mimetic or TRAIL treatment individually. After 24 hours post TRAIL treatment, the apoptotic cells were determined with annexin V-FITC apoptosis detection kit. Results showed that HBE4 cells transfected with vehicle plasmid are resistant to apoptosis induced by TRAIL, Smac mimetic or the combination (Fig. 9B), while cells transfected with mutant KRAS are sensitive to TRAIL plus Smac mimetic induced apoptosis but not the single treatment (Fig. 9B). Similar results were observed in BW1799 cells (Fig. 9C). These results indicate that activation of KRAS specifically sensitizes normal lung epithelial cells to the induction of apoptosis by the combination of TRAIL and Smac mimetic.



**Figure 9. Mutant KRAS activates downstream-signaling pathways and sensitizes normal cells to TRAIL and Smac mimetics**. A, overexpression of mutant KRAS and induction of phosphorylation of ERK (p-ERK) and AKT (p-AKT) in BW1799 and HBE4 cells. These cells were infected with either vehicle retrovirus (Vec) or mutant KRAS expressing-retrovirus. B&C, induction of apoptosis by TRAIL and Smac mimetics. HBE4 cells and BW1799 cells expressing mutant KRAS were treated with TRAIL (100 ng/mL) or Smac mimetics (100 nmol/L) or both or control (PBS) for 24 hours. Apoptotic cells (Annexin V<sup>+</sup>/PI<sup>-</sup>) were counted. The data represent results from 3 independent experiments. Averages and SD are shown.

### **3.2 Mutant KRAS up-regulates TRAIL receptor levels to facilitate TRAIL-induced apoptosis in normal cells.**

Even we hypothesize the synthetic lethality will be generated by combination of TRAIL, RAc and Smac mimetic, previous results showed that the combination of TRAIL and Smac mimetic can induce apoptosis in the normal lung epithelial cells with KRAS activation independent of RAc. Then I tested the role of RAc in normal lung epithelial cells as well as APC deficient colon cells. The results showed that RAc is not essential for TRAIL plus Smac mimetic–induced apoptosis (Fig. 10A). This suggests that KRAS may modulate the expression of TRAIL receptors as RAc does in the APC deficient colon cells. I tested this possibility by examining TRAIL receptor expression by Western blot. Expression of mutant KRAS induced the expression of DR4 and DR5 (Fig. 10B). Mutant KRAS also significantly inhibited the expression DcR2 (Fig. 10B). These results indicate that expression, which facilitates TRAIL signaling. In other words, mutant KRAS exerts a similar effect on TRAIL receptors to that of RAc and thus eliminates the need for adding RAc to TRAIL plus Smac mimetic for the induction of apoptosis in mutant KRAS cells.



**Figure 10. Modulation of TRAIL-receptor expression by KRAS.** A, RAc did not enhance TRAIL- and Smac mimetics—mediated apoptosis in HBE4 cells expressing mutant KRAS. B, Effect of KRAS activation on the TRAIL receptors DR4, DR5, DcR1, and DcR2. HBE4 cells were infected with either vector or mutant KRAS-expressing retrovirus.

### **3.3** Sensitization to TRAIL plus Smac mimetic mainly depends on the activation of the MAPK/ERK pathway.

KRAS functions as an upstream activator of RAF-MEK-ERK and PI3K-Akt signaling pathways, which both can up-regulate the cMyc <sup>25-26</sup>. The activation of KRAS signaling may sensitize normal bronchial epithelial cells to apoptosis induced by TRAIL and Smac mimetic via cMyc activation. To investigate the role of two major KRAS downstream signaling pathways (activation of ERK through RAF and of AKT through PI3K) in contributing to TRAIL plus Smac mimetics–induced apoptosis in mutant KRAS cells, I used MAPK/ERK and AKT inhibitors or dominant-negative mutants to block the signaling pathways in HBE4-KRAS stable cells. Induction of dominant-negative mutants of ERK1/2 inhibited KRAS-mediated ERK activation and TRAIL plus Smac mimetics–induced apoptosis; similarly, U0126, a MEK inhibitor upstream of ERK, also blocked TRAIL plus Smac mimetics–induced apoptosis via inhibition of ERK activation (Fig. 11A and 11B). The inhibition of AKT activation by either the AKT dominant-negative mutant or Wortmannin, a PI3K inhibitor upstream of AKT, did not attenuate TRAIL plus Smac mimetics—induced apoptosis (Fig. 11A and 11B). These results indicate that the sensitization to TRAIL plus Smac mimetics-induced apoptosis is primarily dependent on activation of the MAPK/ERK pathway.



**Figure 11. The ERK/MAPK pathway is essential for KRAS-mediated sensitization.** A, inhibition of KRAS-mediated activation of ERK and AKT. Phosphorylated ERK (p-ERK) and AKT (p-AKT) were assessed in HBE4-KRAS cells transfected with a dominant-negative AKT mutant (AKTDN) or ERK1/2 dominant-negative mutants (ERKDN) or vector (control), or in these cells treated with the PI3K inhibitor Wortmannin (200 nmol/L) or the dual MEK1 and MEK2 inhibitor U0126 (10 mmol/L) or control (dimethyl sulfoxide, DMSO). B, TRAIL- and Smac mimetics-mediated apoptosis was attenuated by ERKDN and MEK1/2 inhibitors. The dominant-negative mutant transfected or inhibitors treated HBE4-KRAS cells were treated with TRAIL and Smac mimetics for 24 hours. Apoptotic cells (Annexin V<sup>+</sup>/PI<sup>-</sup>) were counted. The data represent results from 3 independent experiments. Averages and SD are shown.

## 3.4 Sensitization to TRAIL plus Smac mimetic in oncogenic KRAS-expressing normal epithelial cells is dependent on the regulation of c-Myc and c-FLIP levels.

Even though previous results indicate that the sensitization to TRAIL plus Smac mimetics-induced apoptosis is primarily dependent on activation of the MAPK/ERK pathway, we still do not know if the MAPK/ERK activation regulate the expression of c-Myc, which in turn inhibits the expression c-FLIP to sensitize cells to TRAIL and Smac mimetics. So I first analyzed the expression of c-Myc and c-FLIP in mutant KRAS cells. As we predicted, expression of mutant KRAS resulted in increased levels of c-Myc protein and consequently decreased levels of c-FLIP protein expression (Fig. 12A). I then sought to confirm the significant role of c-Myc and c-FLIP in sensitization to TRAIL plus Smac mimetic. To this end, c-Myc-shRNA was transfected into mutant KRAS cells to knock down c-Myc expression. The transfection abolished KRAS-mediated induction of c-Myc expression and restored c-FLIP expression (Fig. 12B). More importantly, knockdown of c-Myc significantly inhibited TRAIL plus Smac mimetics-induced apoptosis (Fig. 12D). Furthermore, restoring c-FLIP expression by transfecting a c-FLIP—expression plasmid blocked TRAIL plus Smac mimetics—induced cell death in mutant KRAS cells (Fig. 12C and 12D). These data support the ability of KRAS to sensitize normal HBE4 cells to TRAIL and Smac mimetics through activation of c-Myc and the subsequent repression of c-FLIP expression.



**Figure 12. c-MYC and c-FLIP are involved in TRAIL plus Smac mimetics–induced apoptosis in mutant KRAS–expressing cells.** A, mutant KRAS activates c-MYC and represses c-FLIP. HBE4 cells were infected with either control or KRAS-expressing retrovirus. B, c-MYC was knockdown in mutant KRAS-expressing cells. HBE4 cells were infected with either control or KRAS-expressing virus or were transfected with c-Myc-shRNA after KRAS infection. C, c-FLIP is overexpressed in in mutant KRAS-expressing cells. HBE4 cells infected with KRAS were transfected with either control vector or full length c-FLIP plasmid. D, apoptosis was attenuated by cMYC knockdown or cFLIP overexpression. HBE4 cells with various infection and transfection combinations were treated with TRAIL and Smac mimetics. Apoptotic cells (Annexin V+/PI-) were counted. The data represent results from 3 independent experiments. Averages and SD are shown.

3.5 Smac mimetic overcomes the antiapoptotic activity of XIAP to facilitate TRAILinduced apoptosis.

Previous results had shown that not the single TRAIL or Smac mimetic but only the TRAIL plus Smac mimetic combination can induced the apoptosis in mutant KRAS cells. We hypothesize that Smac mimetic could bind to IAPs, release the caspases and sensitize the mutant KRAS cells to TRAIL induced the apoptosis. But it is also reported that Smac mimetic could activate NF- $\kappa$ B pathway and increase the autocrine TNF $\alpha$  level which may also trigger the apoptosis <sup>148-149</sup>. So I next examined the target of Smac mimetic in sensitizing mutant KRAS cells to TRAIL. I first analyzed XIAP expression in mutant KRAS cells by Western blot. Although expression of XIAP was not significantly affected by mutant KRAS, significantly high levels of XIAP were detected, suggesting that the anti-apoptotic activity of XIAP needed to be inhibited to facilitate TRAIL induced apoptosis (Fig. 13A). To investigate this possibility, I used XIAP-shRNA to inhibit the expression of XIAP in mutant KRAS cells (Fig. 13A). Knockdown of XIAP sensitized mutant KRAS cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis (Fig. 13B), in the absence of Smac mimetic. These results support the role of Smac mimetic in targeting the anti-apoptotic activity of XIAP to facilitate TRAIL induced apoptosis. This sensitization is independent of intrinsic pathway of apoptosis.



**Figure 13.** Role of XIAP in TRAIL plus Smac mimetics-induced apoptosis in oncogenic KRAS-expressing cells. A, effect of XIAP knockdown. HBE4 cells were infected with either control or mutant KRAS-expressing virus or were transfected with XIAP-shRNA after KRAS infection. B, induction of apoptosis. HBE4 cells with various infection and transfection combinations were either treated with TRAIL or not treated. Apoptotic cells (Annexin V+/PI-) were counted. The data represent results from 3 independent experiments. Averages and SD are shown.

### 3.6 Apoptosis induced by the combination of Smac mimetic and TRAIL treatment is

### independent of intrinsic apoptotic pathway.

It is reported in the literature that caspase 8/10 can cleave BID via TRAIL

binding to death receptor and formation of the DISC complex <sup>114</sup>. The cleaved form of BID, tBID, can activate the intrinsic pathway by penetrating the mitochondria membrane and release a group of pro-apoptotic proteins from mitochondria, such as Cytochrome-c and Smac. Pro-apoptotic proteins other than Smac may also contribute to the TRAIL induced apoptosis. To determine whether the intrinsic apoptotic pathway also plays a role in the apoptosis induced by TRAIL in KRAS mutant cells, Bcl<sub>2</sub> and Bcl-xL constructs were transfected into mutant KRAS HBE4 cells (Fig. 14A). Overexpression of either Bcl<sub>2</sub> or Bcl-xL did not prevent the TRAIL-induced apoptosis (Fig. 14B). These results suggest that the apoptosis activated by TRAIL and Smac mimetic is independent of mitochondrial apoptotic pathway.

Α





**Figure 14. Overexpression of Bcl<sub>2</sub> or Bcl-xL in KRAS mutant HBE4 cells did not rescue the cells from death**. A, HBE4 cells were transfected with either vector or Bcl2 or Bcl-xL constructs after KRAS infection. B, Induction of apoptosis. HBE4 cells with various infection and transfection combinations were either treated with TRAIL or not treated. Apoptotic cells (Annexin V+/PI-) were counted. The data represent results from 3 independent experiments. Averages and SD are shown.

#### 3.7 Induction of carcinogenesis in a mouse model of KRAS driven lung cancer.

Previous results have showed that activation of KRAS specifically sensitizes normal lung epithelial cells to the induction of apoptosis by the combination of TRAIL and Smac mimetic *in vivo*. To further test the effect of TRAIL and Smac mimetic-mediated apoptosis for chemoprevention, we first needed to establish a mouse model with KRAS activation, which mimics the process of carcinogenesis in humans. For this purpose, I chose a mouse model of mutant KRAS (KRAS-G12D)–driven lung adenocarcinoma. KRAS-G12D mice carry a conditional allele of oncogenic KRAS-G12D (LSL-KRAS-G12D) and closely mimics the tumorigenesis initiated in humans through somatic KRAS mutation <sup>150</sup>. LSL-KRAS-G12D contains a floxed transcriptional stop element, and infecting the lungs of these mice with AdenoCre virus, a recombinant adenovirus expressing the Cre recombinase, resulted in the expression of mutant KRAS and the development of epithelial hyperplasia of the bronchioles, adenomas, and eventually pulmonary adenocarcinoma<sup>150</sup>. Using the dose of AdenoCre virus mentioned before, I sacrificed the mice at 3 wks and 6 wks post-infection (Fig. 15A). Then their lungs were inflated with formalin and fixed in formalin overnight. Lung sections were analyzed by hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining. The histology results show the different stages of carcinogenesis in lung tissue (Fig. 15B). At 3 wks after virus infection, there are only a few hyperplasias while the uninfected lung is free of hyperplasia as the red arrows indicated. At 6 wks after virus infection, the number of hyperplasias continues to increase and there are some areas containing adenoma-like hyperplasia as the yellow arrows indicated.

Α



**Figure 15. A KRAS lung tumor mice model was established to test the effect of TRAIL and Smac mimetic.** A, The mice were infected with AdCre-CaPi coprecipitates (5 - 10<sup>8</sup> pfu) intranasally in two 62.5-mL instillations. Six weeks after infection, the mice were treated either by 3 time continuous treatments or by intermittent treatment, 3 continuous injections a cycle, 3 weeks a cycle, totally 3 cycles. B, the mice were sacrificed before the infection or 3wks or 6 wks after the infection. The lung sections were analyzed by hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining.

### **3.8 Short-term continuous TRAIL and Smac mimetic treatment inhibits lung tumor growth in KRAS transgenic mice.**

As TRAIL plus Smac mimetic induces apoptosis in oncogenic KRAS– expressing cells *in vitro*, this combination has the potential for chemoprevention through short term and intermittent therapy. I tested this potential *in vivo* beginning 6wks after the induction of lung carcinogenesis. The mice received 3 consecutive injections of TRAIL plus Smac mimetics within 1 week. Then the mice were sacrificed 1 day following the treatment, and the lungs were examined for evidence of tumors by H&E staining. I used cleaved caspase-3 immunohistochemistry to evaluate induction of apoptosis. TRAIL plus Smac mimetic induced a significant level of apoptosis in lung tumor cells (Fig. 16A). There was no evidence of apoptosis in normal lung sections (Fig. 16A). Treated mice had a significantly decreased number of lung lesions (hyperplasias and adenomas; versus control mice; Fig. 16B). The most dramatic decrease was a 97% reduction in advanced lung lesions (adenomas; Fig. 16B). Therefore, short-term treatment with TRAIL and Smac mimetic inhibited *in vivo* lung tumor growth.

## 3.9 Intermittent TRAIL and Smac mimetic treatments strongly inhibit lung tumor growth in KRAS transgenic mice.

To test the effect of intermittent TRAIL and Smac mimetics treatment, I treated the mice with 3 cycles of the 3-perweek consecutive treatments within 2 months. The mice were sacrificed 3 days after the last treatments, and the lungs were examined for evidence of tumors by H&E staining. At the time of analysis, most lesions in control mice were adenomas, whereas most lesions in treated mice were hyperplasias (Fig. 16C). A minor, but statistically significant, reduction was observed in the total number of lung lesions in the treatment group (versus controls; Fig. 16D). More important, the number of advanced lesions (adenomas) was greatly reduced in the treatment group (versus controls; Fig. 16D). The lower number of total lung lesions in Figure 16D compared to that in Figure 16B is likely due to the presence of some adenomas, which were more numerous in Figure 16D, comprising multiple hyperplastic lesions. These results support the ability of TRAIL plus Smac mimetic to induce apoptosis in mutant KRAS cells *in vivo* and support the potential of this combination for therapy-like chemoprevention of human lung cancer.



Figure 16. Effect of TRAIL and Smac on KRAS-induced lung tumors in mice. A, TRAIL and Smac mimetic induce apoptosis in lung tumors of LSL-KRASG12D mice. LSL-KRAS-G12D mice were infected with AdenoCre and treated 6 weeks later with PBS (control; n  $\frac{1}{4}$  6) or received 3 consecutive treatments with TRAIL (3 mg/kg) plus Smac mimetics (3 mg/kg; n ¼ 6) within 1 week. Mice without infection were used as normal controls. Three days after the last treatment, the lung sections were stained with an anti-cleaved caspase 3 antibody. Representative photomicrographs are shown. Caspase 3 staining was detected only in TRAIL/Samc-mimetics treated tumor samples. B, TRAIL and Smac mimetics treatment inhibits lung tumor growth. Lung sections were stained with H&E and lung lesions were counted. The data are derived from counting within serial sections in each mouse. Averages and SD are shown. \*, P < 0.05; \*\*, P < 0.001. C, Intermittent treatment with TRAIL plus Smac mimetics inhibits adenoma formation. LSL-KRAS-G12D mice were infected with AdenoCre. Six weeks later, the mice (n = 6 for each treatment group) were subjected to 3 rounds of intermittent treatment in 2 months with either PBS (control) or TRAIL (3 mg/kg) plus Smac mimetics (1.5 mg/kg). Lung sections were stained with H&E; representative photomicrographs are shown. D, Quantification of lung lesions. Serial sections were stained with H&E, and lung lesions were counted. The data are derived from counting within serial sections in each mouse. Averages and SD are shown. \*\*\*, P < 0.0001.

In this chapter, we observed that the combination of TRAIL and Smac mimetic specifically induce apoptosis in KRAS activated normal cells. The induction of apoptosis did not require the attendance of RAc because KRAS activation modulates the expression TRAIL receptors as RAc did. The KRAS activation sensitize the normal epithelial cells to TRAIL plus Smac mimetic induced apoptosis by modulating the expression of c-MYC and c-FLIP through the MAPK/ERK pathway. And in the process, Smac mimetic overcomes the anti-apoptotic activity of XIAP to facilitate TRAIL-induced apoptosis.

Then I established a mouse model of mutant KRAS (KRAS-G12D)–driven lung adenocarcinoma to mimic the process of carcinogenesis in humans. At 6 wks after virus infection, the histology analysis showed there were a number of hyperplasias and some adenoma-like hyperplasia. Then short-term TRAIL and Smac mimetic treatments strongly induced apoptosis specifically in the hyperplasia area while the intermittent TRAIL and Smac mimetic treatments dramatically inhibit lung tumor growth in mice.

Combined *in vitro* and *in vivo* results showed that TRAIL and Smac mimetics treatment can specifically and efficiently induced apoptosis in KRAS activated normal lung epithelial cells which could mimic the premalignant cells. The long term intermittent treatment results strongly suggest that this approach could be applied for SITEP based chemoprevention.

### CHAPTER 4 Use TRAIL and Smac mimetic for lung cancer treatment

Previous results have shown that for the first time a synthetic lethal interaction among TRAIL, Smac, and constitutive activation of RAS in premalignant bronchial epithelial cells with great efficiency and specificity. As mutational activation of KRAS occurs in 25-30% of NSCLC17, targeting oncogenic RAS activation with the combination of TRAIL and Smac mimetic is a potential new approach for the treatment of NSCLC. So in this chapter I investigated the mechanism of TRAIL plus Smac mimetics induced apoptosis in lung cancer cells for NSCLC treatment. I also tested the efficacy of combination treatment in lung cancer using a tumor xenograft model. Because we also observed some KRAS mutant lung cancer cell lines are resistant to TRAIL and Smac mimetic induced apoptosis. The mechanism of resistance to the combination treatment are explored in some respects.

## 4.1 TRAIL and Smac mimetic induces apoptosis specifically in KRAS mutant lung cancer cell line

To determine whether the TRAIL and Smac mimetic combination treatment can be used to treat lung cancer, I first tested whether the combination treatment was able to kill lung cancer cell lines. I treated different lung cancer cell lines with and without the KRAS mutation. The panel of lung cancer cell lines with KRAS mutation includes H460, H358 and H157. The panel of lung cancer cell lines with wild type KRAS includes H322 and H661. The results indicate that the panel of lung cancer cell lines with KRAS mutation is more

sensitive to the combination treatment than the panel of lung cancer cell lines with wild type KRAS (Figure 17A&B).



**Figure 17. Effect of TRAIL and Smac mimetic on lung cancer cell lines with or without mutant KRAS.** A, induction of apoptosis in mutant KRAS cell lines including NCI-H460, NCI-H358 and NCI-H157. B, induction of apoptosis in wild type KRAS cell lines including NCI-H322 and NCI-H661. Cells were treated with TRAIL and Smac mimetics. Apoptotic cells (Annexin V+/PI-) were counted. The data represent results from 3 independent experiments. Averages and SD are shown.

## 4.2 Expression of mutant KRAS sensitize KRAS wild type lung cancer cell lines to TRAIL and Smac mimetic induced apoptosis.

Previous results showed that the panel of lung cancer cell lines with KRAS mutation is more sensitive to the combination treatment, which suggest that KRAS mutation is relative to the positive response. To further confirm whether KRAS activation sensitizes the KRAS wild type lung cancer cells to TRAIL plus Smac mimetic-induced apoptosis, I introduced the activating mutant KRAS<sup>G12V</sup> into the KRAS wild type lung cancer cell line NCI-H322 as previously described for the normal cells. Unsurprisingly, constitutive expression of mutant KRAS led to activation of downstream signaling pathways, including phosphorylation of ERK and AKT in NCI-H322 cells (Fig. 18A). As expected, the MAPK/ERK activation regulate the expression of c-Myc, which in turn inhibits the expression c-FLIP (Fig.18A). Because previous data also showed that the KRAS activation enhances the DR4/5 expression while repressing the DcR1/2 expression, which facilitates TRAIL signaling. So we also hypothesize that KRAS activation could modulate the death receptors and decoy receptors level in NCI-H322 lung cancer cells as in normal lung epithelial cells. But the western blotting results is not consist with previous results (Fig. 18A). In NCI-H322 cells, only the DR5 expression level was slightly up-regulated but the DR4 level was not. The decoy death receptors DcR1/2 were not depressed as in in normal lung epithelial cells.

Then, to test whether KRAS activation sensitizes NCI-H322 lung cancer cells to TRAIL plus Smac mimetics induced apoptosis, NCI-H322 cells infected with vector or mutant KRAS retrovirus were treated by Smac mimetic for 30min, then followed by TRAIL treatment. After 24 hours post TRAIL treatment, the apoptotic cells were determined with annexin V-FITC apoptosis detection kit. Results showed that NCI-H322 cells infected with vector virus are resistant to apoptosis induced by TRAIL plus Smac mimetic treatment while expression of mutant KRAS sensitized part of the cells to TRAIL plus Smac mimetic induced apoptosis (Fig. 18B). These results suggest that activation of KRAS may specifically sensitize KRAS wild type lung cancer cell NCI-H322 to TRAIL and Smac mimetic induced apoptosis. Comparing to the results in normal lung epithelial cells, the apoptosis was induced in only

about 40% NCI-H322 lung cancer cells even the c-MYC and c-FLIP levels were regulated as we expected. Considering the death receptors DR4/5 were not up-regulated as in normal lung epithelial cells, it may suggest that death receptors level are one of the key factors to decide the cells response to TRAIL plus Smac mimetics induced co-treatment.



**Figure 18. Effect of TRAIL and Smac on wild type KRAS lung cancer cell line after KRAS activation.** A, these cells were infected with either vector (vec) or mutant KRAS expressing retrovirus. Activation of KRAS induct phosphorylation of ERK (p-ERK) and AKT (p-AKT), activation of c-Myc and repression of c-FLIP by KRAS in NCI-H322 cells. The results also showed effect of KRAS activation on the TRAIL receptors DR4, DR5, DcR1, DcR2 and pro-caspase 8. B, KRAS-mediated H322 cells were infected with either control or KRAS-expressing retrovirus. H322 cells were infected with either control or KRAS-expressing retrovirus. B, induction of apoptosis by TRAIL and Smac mimetics. H322 cells expressing oncogenic KRAS were treated with TRAIL (100 ng/mL) or Smac mimetics (100 nmol/L) or both or control (PBS) for 24 hours. Apoptotic cells (Annexin V<sup>+</sup>/PI<sup>-</sup>) were counted. The data represent results from 3 independent experiments. Averages and SD are shown.

4.3 TRAIL and Smac mimetic mediate tumor growth suppression in KRAS activated lung cancer xenograft model via induction of apoptosis.

Previous results showed that lung cancer cell lines with KRAS mutation is more sensitive to the TRAIL plus Smac mimetic treatment. And activation of KRAS also sensitize KRAS wild type lung cancer cell NCI-H322 to TRAIL and Smac mimetic induced apoptosis. Those *in vitro* results showed the efficient anti-tumor effect of TRAIL and Smac combination treatment. To further test the anti-tumor effect of TRAIL and Smac mimetic *in vivo*, I utilized a xenograft tumor model. For this experiment, I injected two different lung cancer cell lines, NCI-H460 and NCI-H322 into nude mice to generate xenograft tumors. NCI-H460 cell line harbors mutant KRAS while NCI-H322 has the wild KRAS. This enables a direct comparison of these two types of lung cancer cell lines with the same treatment.

Since there was no previously published data on the dose of TRAIL and Smac mimetic for *in vivo* lung tumor xenograft models, I used the same Smac mimetic dose (3 mg/kg) but doubled the TRAIL dose (6 mg/kg) compared with the transgenic KRAS mice model. In the NCI-H322 xenograft mice, the growth of tumors was very similar in both control and treated animals. However, in the mice with NCI-H460 xenograft, the treated group exhibited decreased tumor growth compared to the control group (Fig. 19A). At the end of treatment (day 24), the NCI-H322 tumor relative volume increased 8.23 times in control group versus 9.09 times in the mice treated with TRAIL plus Smac mimetics, while the NCI-H460 relateive tumor volume increased 8.48 times in control group compared with only 2.68 times in treated group (Fig. 19B). Despite the small number of animals in this

study, the difference between NCI-H460 control group and treated group is statistically significant, and the trend is clear. These *in vivo* results demonstrate that the combination of TRAIL and Smac mimetic only demonstrates an anti-tumor effect in the NCI-H460 xenograft tumor model, but not in the NCI-H322 xenograft tumor model. Although these data are consistent with the *in vitro* results, I still sought to confirm that the anti-tumor effect is due to apoptosis induced by the TRAIL and Smac mimetic, and not some other mechanism. To determine this, TUNEL staining was performed on the xenograft tumor sections and the results confirm that apoptosis was only induced in the NCI-H460 treated group, not in either the NCI-H322 treated group or the NCI-H460 control group (Fig. 19C). These TUNEL results confirm that the anti-tumor effect was accomplished through apoptosis induced by the TRAIL and Smac mimetic.



### Figure 19. The effects of combination treatment in the *in vivo* xenograft model.

A, xenograft tumor growth curves in control and TRAIL plus Smac mimetic treated mice. B, the normalized tumor growth fold at the end of treatment (day 24) in control and TRAIL plus Smac mimetic treated mice. C, the TUNEL staining results of tumor sections in control and TRAIL plus Smac mimetic treated mice.

4.4 Resistance in KRAS mutant lung cancer cell lines may be related to the death receptor expression levels.

Even though TRAIL and Smac mimetic combination treatment exhibited strong killing effects *in vitro* and *in vivo*, it still did not kill all of the cells *in vitro* and it did not cause complete regression of the xenograft tumor. This indicates that there may be additional mechanisms that are inhibiting activation of apoptosis and protecting the cells from death. To investigate possible mechanisms, I first screened additional lung cancer cell lines with KRAS mutations. Among those cell lines, I found that the following cell lines are resistant to TRAIL and Smac mimetic combination treatment to different extents: A549, NCI-H2122 with KRAS mutation and NCI-H2199 with HRAS mutation (Fig.20A).

To investigate the mechanism of resistance to Smac mimetic and TRAIL induced apoptosis in KRAS mutant lung cancer cell lines, I first determined the role of extrinsic and intrinsic apoptosis in response to treatment with TRAIL and Smac mimetic. Overexpression of either Bcl<sub>2</sub> or Bcl-xL did not prevent the TRAIL plus Smac mimeticinduced apoptosis in KRAS mutant lung cancer cell lines NCI-460 and NCI-H358 (Fig. 20B&C). These results are consistent with what I observed in KRAS activated HBE cells. This data combined with reports that Smac alone can induce apoptosis independent of Apaf-1/Cyt C <sup>134</sup>, I conclude that TRAIL plus Smac mimetic-induced extrinsic apoptosis is sufficient to trigger downstream caspase activation and cell death, without the involvement of the intrinsic apoptotic pathway. I next evaluated major components of the extrinsic apoptotic pathway in those lung cancer cell lines by western blot (Fig. 20D). The results suggest that

the resistance may not be due to cFLIP and cMyc level as in the HBE cells. In contrast, DR5 and pro-caspase 8 levels are the most likely predictors of responses to TRAIL plus Smac mimetic induced apoptosis.



**Figure 20. The resistance are highly relative to death receptor DR5.** A, Induction of apoptosis. Mutant KRAS cell lines including A549 and NCI-H2122, and mutant NRAS cell lines NCI-1299, were treated with TRAIL and Smac mimetics. Apoptotic cells (Annexin V+/PI-) were counted. B, overexpression of Bcl2 and Bcl-xL in NCI-H460 and NCI-H358 cells. The Bcl2 and Bcl-xL plasmids were transfected into the NCI-H460 and NCI-H358 cells. 24 hour after the transfection, cell lysates were collected. C, induction of apoptosis. NCI-H460 and NCI-H358 with Bcl2 or Bcl-xL overexpression were either treated with TRAIL plus Smac mimetics or not treated. Apoptotic cells (Annexin V+/PI-) were counted. D, Comparison of the extrinsic apoptosis pathway components in different lung cell lines. The levels of death receptors DR4, DR5 and DcR1; Pro-caspase 8, cFLIP and cMyc are investigated by western blotting. All the data represent results from 3 independent experiments. Averages and SD are shown.

4.5 Increase in DR5 expression via 5Fu stimulation or over-expression can overcome resistance to TRAIL and Smac mimetic induced apoptosis.

Previous results showed that death receptors DR5 and pro-caspase 8 levels may determine the cell response to TRAIL and Smac mimetic induced apoptosis. To further confirm the role of DR5 in determining the response to TRAIL plus Smac mimetic, I transfected the DR5 construct into 2 resistant cell lines, A549 and NCI-H2122 (Fig. 21A). The overexpression of DR5 alone induced some apoptosis in NCI-H2122 cells but very little in A549 cells. However, it can sensitize both A549 and NCI-H2122 to TRAIL plus Smac mimetic induced apoptosis (Fig. 21B). This result confirmed that the low DR5 level in resistant cell lines may be a key factor of the resistance to apoptotic induction.

To further study the resistance mechanisms, I also screened the combination of TRAIL with a panel of anti-tumor drugs for the ability to induce apoptosis in lung cancer cell lines. I found that 5-Fluorouracil (5Fu) is the best candidate to synergize with TRAIL to induce apoptosis (Fig. 21C). While studying the mechanism of TRAIL and 5Fu synergy, I found that 5Fu also up-regulates DR5 levels (Fig. 21D), but not caspase-8 or cFLIP levels (data not shown here). The mechanism for 5FU up-regulation of DR5 remained unclear. However, these results still suggest the importance of DR5 in TRAIL induced apoptosis.



Figure 21. DR5 up-regulation will sensitize the resistant cell lines to TARIL and Smac mimetics induced apoptosis. A, overexpression DR5 in NCI-H2122 and A549 cell lines. DR5 construct was transfected into NCI-H2122 and A549 cells. Lysated were collected 24 hours after the transfecdtion. B, cells tranfected with DR5 or control plasmids were treated with TRAIL (100 ng/mL) or Smac mimetic (100 nmol/L) or both or control (PBS) for 24 hours. Apoptotic cells (Annexin V<sup>+</sup>/PI<sup>-</sup>) were counted. C, cells treated with 5Fu or DMSO were treated with TRAIL (100 ng/mL) or Smac mimetic (100 nmol/L) or both or control (PBS) for 24 hours. Apoptotic cells (Annexin V<sup>+</sup>/PI<sup>-</sup>) were counted. D, the DR5 level in cells treated with 5Fu increased. The cells were first treated with 5Fu for 24h, then were treated with TRAIL (100 ng/mL) or Smac mimetic (100 nmol/L) or both or control (PBS) for another 24 hours. Cell lysates were collected. All the data represent results from 3 independent experiments. Averages and SD are shown.

In this chapter, to explore the anti-cancer effect of the combination treatment,

I first tested the responses of different lung cancer cell lines to the TRAIL and Smac mimetic

treatment. Results showed that several KRAS mutant lung cancer cell lines are sensitive to

TRAIL and Smac mimetic induced apoptosis while the KRAS wild type lung cancer cell lines

are not. KRAS activation in the KRAS wild type lung cancer cells NCI-H322 can sensitize part

of cells to TRAIL plus Smac mimetic induced apoptosis. In vivo experiment results showed

that TRAIL and Smac mimetic treatments strongly inhibit mutant KRAS xenograft tumor growth in mice. All the results suggested that the TRAIL and Smac mimetic combination treatment has great anti-cancer effect.

But, the TRAIL and Smac mimetic combination treatment can not completely inhibit the tumor growth in mice. And I also observed that some KRAS or NRAS mutant lung cancer cell lines are resistant to TRAIL and Smac mimetic induced apoptosis. To enhance the anti-cancer effect of the approach, I explored the possible mechanism of resistance. The results suggested that the resistance might be relative to the death receptors level in lung cancer cells. Further study showed that the resistance could be overcome by 5-Fluorouracil or overexpression of DR5. That confirmed the key role of DR5 in determining the lung cancer cells response to TRAIL induced apoptosis.
## **CHAPTER 5 Summaries and Discussion**

## 5.1 Specific targeting of KRAS mutation based on synthetic lethality.

For the first time, my results demonstrate that a synthetic lethal interaction exists between TRAIL, Smac mimetic, and constitutively active KRAS in premalignant bronchial epithelial cells and malignant lung cancer cells (Fig. 22). This synergy relied on the following mechanisms: KRAS up-regulation of c-MYC and thus repressed c-FLIP expression; KRAS up-regulated death receptors and down-regulated decoy receptors; and Smac mimetic repression of the apoptotic inhibitory effect of IAPs (particularly XIAP). This synthetic lethal interaction made it possible to eliminate KRAS-activated premalignant lung cells or mutant KRAS lung cancer cells using TRAIL plus Smac mimetic with great efficacy and specificity. Normal cells are not sensitive to the combined treatment because of the high level of cFLIP and decoy receptors. This is the rationale for pursuing the treatment or chemoprevention of KRAS mutant lung cancer. As mutational activation of KRAS occurs in approximately 25-30% of NSCLC and there is currently no good method for treating NSCLC with KRAS mutation, targeting oncogenic KRAS activation with the combination of TRAIL and Smac mimeti is potentially a new approach for the therapy and chemoprevention of NSCLC; this potential is strongly supported by my in vivo animal studies.



**Figure 22. Synthetic lethality targets the KRAS mutant cells.** This figure shows that KRAS activation up-regulates cMYC and thus represses cFLIP; Smac mimetic inhibits IAPs; KRAS also modulate the Death receptors and decoyed receptors in unknown mechanism. The synergy can sensitize the cells to TRAIL induced apoptosis.

# 5.2 SITEP-based lung cancer chemoprevention via synthetic lethality against KRAS mutation.

The concept of synthetic lethality is to generate the cell death only when there are both mutations in synthetically lethal gene pairs, while a single mutation of either gene is compatible with viability. People have begun using this concept to develop cancerspecific cytotoxic drugs in recent years. There are three advantages of synthetic lethality for cancer chemoprevention and therapy. First, synthetic lethality focuses on inducing apoptosis instead of inhibiting some oncogenic pathways, which directly kill the cells in a short time without leaving creating survival pressure for the cancer cells. This decreases the possibility of selection of more resistant malignant cancer cells. Second, cancer-specific mutation makes the associated synthetic lethality interactions very specific and selective. The interactions will not harm the normal cells that lack the cancer-specific mutation while killing of cancer cells with the mutation, which means this approach should improve toxicity and decrease side effects in patients. Third, while using the synthetic lethality as a prevention strategy, it is not necessary to constitutively administer agents. Applying treatment periodically would eliminate the premalignant cells and decrease the cancer risk, which further decrease the toxicity and the possibility to generate the resistance. These advantages lead to the idea of short-term intermittent therapy to eliminate premalignancy (SITEP), which periodically reduces premalignant tumor cell numbers with short interventions to substantially inhibit or delay cancer development.

Compared to the current chemoprevention strategies, SITEP should reduce the potential side effects and cost associated with long-term drug administration. It also could be predicted that the intermittent treatment would decrease the possibility of generating drug resistance by selectively killing premalignant cells without inducing metabolic changes in adjacent cells.

### 5.3 Obstacles to apply this new strategy into clinical trial for KRAS mutant NSCLC

Even though the *in vitro* and *in vivo* results showed a promising trend, there are still a number of obstacles in translating this strategy into clinical trials. Both rhTRAIL and various Smac mimetics have been tested separately in a series of clinical trials and showed very little toxicity in patients <sup>125, 145</sup>. But that does not guarantee that the

combination of TRAIL and Smac mimetic are not toxic to patients. Further experiments are required to evaluate the potential toxicity of this combination.

For the purpose of chemoprevention, not only are powerful killing effects required, but also low toxicity and few side effects. This means that lower dosage and longer intervals between the two treatment cycles would be best. To keep the balance of sufficient killing effect and low toxicity, further research needs to be carried out to test different dosage combination of TRAIL and Smac mimetic, including additional intermittent periods and modified TRAIL or agonistic antibodies.

In this project, it is found that KRAS activation can modulate the death receptors DR4/5 and decoy receptors DcR1/2 level and facilitate the TRAIL triggered apoptosis. So the attendance of RAc for generating the synthetic lethality with TRAIL and Smac mimetic is not required here. It is also reported by other literature that DR4/5 levels are always high in KRAS mutant tumors <sup>151</sup>. But the mechanism of KRAS activation regulate DR4/5 and DcR1/2 remains unclear (Fig. 22). There is study that reported the cMYC can upregulate DR5 level <sup>152</sup>. There is also another study that reported the up-regulation of DR5 by KRAS activation depended on P53 <sup>153</sup>. But the study in my lab showed that cMYC knockdown did not abolish the modulation of DR5 by KRAS. Also the DR5 levels in different lung cancer cell lines are not consistent with the condition of KRAS activation or P53 status (Fig 20). Those results suggested there is unknown mechanism behinds it. Understanding the regulation mechanism will facilitate application of TRAIL based treatment or chemoprevention.

Previous results showed that up-regulation of DR5 by direct overexpression or indirect stimulus could sensitize the resistant NSCLC cells to TRAIL induced apoptosis. Those results suggested that DR5 level or DR5/decoy receptor ratio may be the key factor to determine the cell response upon TRAIL treatment. If we can get the profiles of death receptors and decoy receptors in the patients, we may predict the patient's response to the TRAIL and Smac mimetic combined treatment. Positively modulating the DR5 level also could be set as the criteria when we screen the possible candidates which may have the synergetic effects with TRAIL, just like the RAc or 5Fu.

In this project, I introduce the KRAS<sup>G12V</sup> mutant plasmids into normal lung epithelial cells or wild type KRAS lung cancer cell lines. But the KRAS<sup>G12V</sup> mutation could not represent all the KRAS mutations because it is reported that there are codon 12, 13 mutations in NSCLC and different mutations on the same codon, such as G12V and G12D mutations <sup>29</sup>. It is reported that different mutations may activate different downstream signals which means the mutations other than G12V may cause different response of cells to the TRAIL plus Smac mimetic combination treatment<sup>162</sup>. So I need to introduce different KRAS mutations into cells and test the response. This issue also should be concerned for the animal model, which is KRAS-G12D mice.

Some KRAS mutant lung cancer cell lines showed resistance to synthetic lethality, while others did not. Resistance may come from the diverse genetic background of different cancer cells, which is caused by genome instability. I have demonstrated that the level of death receptors is critical to the response to Smac mimetic. The DR4/5 levels

are very low in some cell lines. Also the deficiency of downstream key effectors, such as caspase 8, will protect the cells from TRAIL induced apoptosis. Although NCI-H460 cells are very sensitive to TRAIL plus Smac mimetic treatment, xenograft tumors of this cell line cannot be completely inhibited by this combination. One possible explanation is the limited activity due to very short half-life of the rhTRAIL, only 5-10 minutes when injected i.v. <sup>154</sup>. To overcome this, some groups have tried to use large proteins coupled to TRAIL to increase its stability. Some progress has been made, but increasing toxicity with this approach remains a problem <sup>155</sup>. Agonistic antibodies to TRAIL-R2 (anti-DR5) have been tested, but the outcomes are not encouraging <sup>125</sup>. This may be due to the poor accessibility of large antibodies to tumor tissue.

Whether for therapy or chemoprevention, we need to first target a specific population who are most likely to response to treatment. According to the principle of synthetic lethality, KRAS mutation is one of the key factors that predict response to Smac mimetic and TRAIL, but KRAS mutations occur in both tobacco users and non-smoking patients, which makes selection of a target population more difficult. Among the tobacco users there are current or prior smokers. Is the KRAS mutation the only criteria for those different populations? Are other mutations necessary or exclusive for sensitizing cells to the treatment? Are there any biomarkers or risk factors that can be used to assess the potential effects? These questions remained unanswered so far and they need to be addressed in the further development of SITEP.

#### 5.4 Strategies to overcome resistance.

With continual treatment, it is difficult to avoid the development of resistance due to the selection of malignant and/or drug-resistant cells. The inherent genomic instability of cancer allows cells to develop strategies to inhibit cell death, such as silencing/attenuating death signaling proteins, or over-expression of anti-apoptotic proteins.

To overcome these blockades, we have to activate death signaling pathways while inhibiting anti-apoptotic proteins. In the case of TRAIL plus Smac mimetic, one strategy is to search for agents that modulate the extrinsic signaling molecules. As I mentioned before, positively modulating the DR5 level could be a standard to screen the possible candidates, among which is the 5Fu that could up-regulate DR5 expression. The work in my lab also suggested that 5Fu could increase DR5 distribution on the cell membrane and some specific region, lipid rafts. The combination of TRAIL and 5Fu showed more powerful killing effect than the combination of TRAIL and Smac mimetic *in vitro* and *in vivo*, especially in those resistant cell lines (data not shown here)

Even though my studies demonstrated that TRAIL plus Smac induced apoptosis independently of the intrinsic apoptotic pathway, it is likely that activation of the intrinsic apoptotic pathway will enhance extrinsic apoptosis. So the addition of agents that can penetrate the mitochondria may be another good strategy to overcome resistance. There are several Bcl-2/Bcl-xL inhibitors being studied in clinical trials that may serve as partners to enhance TRAIL plus Smac mimetic induced apoptosis <sup>163-165</sup>.

#### 5.5 Prospective studies

For the coming next step, I will focus on solving the questions and obstacles mentioned in the previous discussion part. First we need to completely understand how KRAS modulate the death receptors and decoy death receptors levels, which might be the key factor to determine the cell response to TRAIL triggered apoptosis. The work in my lab had shown that the modulation of death receptors by KRAS is mainly based on the transcription level. So my lab had cloned different promoter and regulation region of death receptors into reporter vector. Then we can test which downstream signals of KRAS mainly accounts for regulating the transcription of death receptors. After understanding how KRAS modulate the death receptors, we could enhance the modulation and even sensitize the resistant cell to TRAIL induced apoptosis.

Previous results showed that the premalignant cells or lesions all response well to the TRAIL plus Smac mimetic treatment while there are more resistances in cancer cells due to the genome instability. So it suggests that the current approach has more great potential in cancer prevention other than cancer treatment. But, we should pay more attention on the concerns of drug selection and drug resistance before applying the current approach into clinical trials. In this project, I applied the SITEP treatment on the infected mice for about 3 months and it showed the efficient effect. But the treatment period may be till not long enough to evaluate the possible accumulating drug resistance. So I plan to keep the SITEP treatment for longer time and get the Kaplan-Meier survival curves, which may reveal the possible resistance.

Besides the above unsolved issues, one of the most difficult obstacles in cancer treatment might be the genomic instability, which generate the diverse genetic background of cancer cells and the resistance to the chemotherapy. So we need a mice model to investigate if there will be resistance upon to the TRAIL and Smac mimetic combination treatment after losing the genomic stability. Now in my lab, we have crossed the conditional P53 knockout mice with LSL-Kras<sup>G12D</sup> mice. After the mice were infected with AdenoCre virus, the wild type P53 is knocked out and the mutant KRAS is activated. The histology analysis showed that the adenoma formed faster after the adenovirus infection and suggested the tumorigenesis process is accelerated in the mice. So we plan to use this new model to mimic the genomic instability with KRAS activation to test our new approach. Previous results have shown that endogenous DR5, cMYC and cFLIP levels varied in different lung cancer cell lines with KRAS mutation. That also may be due to the genomic instability. To further investigate how genomic instability will affect the cell response to the treatment and determine which factors play the key role in sensitizing the cells to TRAIL induced apoptosis, we will test more lung cancer cell lines and use the database to analysis the relevance of TRAIL sensitivity and genetic information, such as the KRAS mutation profiles.

The long term and final goal of these studies is to develop a new approach for targeting KRAS mutant NSCLC for therapy and chemoprevention. The specificity of this treatment relies heavily on the activation KRAS. In patients who have a tumor biopsy, it is not difficult to check the genetic backgrounds of the tumor. Indeed, for patients who have undergone surgery and are found to have activated KRAS, this strategy may be an effective

way to eliminate the remaining cancer cells or metastatic cells, and prevent tumor recurrence. However, in the case of chemoprevention, the question is how to select patients, or how to identify the high-risk populations? One identifiable group of high risk people are heavy smokers. It has been reported in numerous studies that KRAS mutation is always associated with heavy smoking and the frequency of KRAS mutation is high in this population. So this group might be a good candidate for KRAS targeted chemoprevention. Further evaluation should be taken on the heavy smokers for the combined treatment.

For the non-smokers or prior smokers, even though the risk of developing cancer is low, there is still the possibility of spontaneous KRAS mutation. Since the KRAS mutation is an early event in carcinogenesis and the activation of KRAS will change the downstream signaling, it is expected that there would be some small change of proteins in the circulation. These proteins could be used as predictive makers for the success of synthetic lethality based chemoprevention. The development of microarray techniques and proteomics makes it possible to identify good targets from blood samples as biomarkers to predict KRAS mutation or the response to treatment.

The synthetic lethality of TRAIL and Smac mimetic is based on the mutation but not on the organ site. So this approach could be applied in other cancer types with common KRAS mutations, such as pancreatic cancer, of which 90% are reported to harbor KRAS mutations. Besides cancers with KRAS mutation, cancers that are associated with the activation of growth factor signaling, such as EGFR, which leads to KRAS activation, or cancers with activated downstream effectors of KRAS, such as BRAF, could also be

potential targets for this approach. In support of this some preliminary data from others in our lab has shown that EGFR mutant lung cancer cell lines are sensitive to the combination treatment.

In recently years, personalized cancer therapy and cancer prevention have been a very hot area of research. Synthetic lethality based therapy or prevention could be an important part of the personalized treatment, which provides a strong effect, low toxicity and low costs in selected high-risk patients or populations.

# Bibliography

- 1. Jemal A, Siegel R, Xu J, Ward E. Cancer statistics, CA Cancer Journal of Clinicians, 2008, 58:71-96.
- 2. American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts & Figures, Atlanta: American Cancer Society, 2012.
- 3. Herbst R, Heymach JV, Lippman SM. Lung Cancer, *the New England Journal of Medicine*, 2008, 359:1367-1380.
- 4. John T. With Every Breath: A Lung Cancer Guidebook, 2005, chapter 6, page 85.
- Sattler M, Salgia R. Molecular and Cellular Biology of Small Cell Lung Cancer, Seminars in Oncology, 2003, 30(1):57-71.
- Sidransky D, Hollstein M. Clinical implications of the p53 gene, *Annu Rev Med*, 1996, 47:285-301.
- Yokota J, Akiyama T, Fung YK, Benedict WF, Namba Y, Hanaoka M, Wada M, Terasaki T, Shimosato Y, Sugimura T. Altered expression of the retinoblastoma (RB) gene in small cell lung cancer of the lung. *Oncogene*, 1988, 3:471-475.
- 8. Rygaard K, Nakamura T, Spang-Thomsen M. Expression of the proto-oncogenes c-met and c-kit and their ligands, hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor and stem cell factor, in SCLC cell lines and xenografts. *Br J Cancer*, 1993, 67:37-46.
- 9. Plummer H, Catlett J, Leftwich J. c-myc expression correlates with suppression of c-kit protooncogene expression in small cell lung cancer cell lines. *Cancer Res*, 1993, 53:4337-4342.
- 10. Kaiser U, Schilli M, Haag U, Neumann K, Kreipe H, Kogan E, Havemann K. Expression of bcl-2– protein in small cell lung cancer. *Lung Cancer*, 1996, 15:31-40.
- Meerbeeck JP, Fennell D, Ruysscher D. Small cell lung cancer. *The Lancet*, 2011, 378(9804),1741 1755.
- 12. Brambilla E, Moro D, Gazzeri S, Brichon PY, Nagy-Mignotte H, Morel F, Jacrot M, Brambilla C. Cytotoxic chemotherapy induces cell differentiation in small-cell lung carcinoma. *J Clin Oncol*,

1991, 9: 50-61.

- 13. Yeh JJ, Hsu NY, Hsu WH, Tsai CH, Lin CC, Liang JA. Comparison of chemotherapy response with P-glycoprotein, multidrug resistance-related protein-1, and lung resistance-related protein expression in untreated small cell lung cancer. *Lung*, 2005, 183:177-183.
- 14. Krasu A, Ferberl, Schuermann M. In vitro chemo- and radio- resistance in small cell lung cancer correlates with cell adhesion and constitutive activation of AKT and MAP kinase pathways. *Oncogene*, 2002, 21(57):8683-8695.
- 15. Morimoto H, Tsukada J, Kominato Y. Reduced expression of human mismatch repair genes in adult T-cell leukemia. *Am J He-mato*, 2005, 78:100-107.
- 16. John T. With Every Breath: A Lung Cancer Guidebook, 2005, chapter 7, page 99-101.
- 17. Arcangelo M and Cappuzzo F. K-Ras Mutations in Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: Prognostic and Predictive Value. *ISRN Molecular Biology*, 2012, Vol 2012, Article ID 837306.
- Takahashi T, Nau MM, Chiba I, Birrer MJ, Rosenberg RK, Vinocour M, Levitt M, Pass H, Gazdar AF, Minna JD. p53: a frequent target for genetic abnormalities in lung cancer. *Science*, 1989, 246(4929):491–494.
- M. G. Kris, B. E. Johnson, D. J. Kwiatkowski, A. J. Iafrate, I. I. Wistuba, S. L. Aronson, J. A. Engelman, Y. Shyr, F. R. Khuri, C. M. Rudin, E. B. Garon, W. Pao, J. H. Schiller, E. B. Haura, K. Shirai, G. Giaccone, L. D. Berry, K. Kugler, J. D. Minna, P. A. Bunn. Identification of driver mutations in tumor specimens from 1000 patients with lung adenocarcinoma: The NCI's Lung Cancer Mutation Consortium (LCMC). *J Clinical Oncology*, 2011,29:(suppl; abstr CRA7506)
- 20. Salomon DS, Brandt R, Ciardiello F, Normanno N. Epidermal growth factor-related peptides and their receptors in human malignancies. *Crit Rev Oncol Haematol,* 1995, 19:183–232.
- 21. Harvey J. An unidentified virus which causes the rapid production of tumors in mice. *Nature*, 1964, 204:1104-1105.

- 22. Kirsten WH, Mayer LA. Morphologic responses to a murine erythroblastosis virus. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 1967, 39(2):311-335.
- 23. Shimizu K, Goldfarb M, Suard Y, Perucho M, Li Y, Kamata T, Feramisco J, Stavnezer E, Fogh J, Wigler MH. Three human transforming genes are related to the viral ras oncogenes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*, 1983, 80(8):2112-2116.
- 24. Hancock JF. Ras proteins: different signals from different locations. *Nature reviews, molecular cell biology*, 4:373-384
- 25. Chang F, Steelman LS, Lee JT, Shelton JG, Navolanic PM, Blalock WL, Franklin RA, McCubrey JA. Signal transduction mediated by the Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK pathway from cytokine receptors to transcription factors: potential targeting for therapeutic intervention. *Leukemia*, 2003, 17:1263–1293.
- 26. Castellano E and Downward J. RAS Interaction with PI3K: More Than Just Another Effector Pathway. *Genes & Cancer*, 2011, 2(3):261–274.
- 27. Vetter IR, Wittinghofer A. The guanine nucleotide-binding switch in three dimensions. *Science*, 2001, 294(5545):1299-304.
- Gupta YP, Grabocka E& Bar-Sagi D. RAS oncogenes: weaving a tumorigenic web, Nature Reviews Cancer, 2011, 11:761-774.
- 29. Fernández-Medarde A and Santos E. Ras in Cancer and Developmental Diseases. *Genes & Cancer*, 2011, 2(3):344-358.
- 30. Buhrman G, Wink G, and Mattos C. Transformation efficiency of Q61 Ras mutants linked to structural features of the switch regions. *Structure*, 2007 15(12):1618-1629
- 31. Al-Mulla F, Milner-White EJ, Going JJ, Birnie GD. Structural differences between valine-12 and aspartate-12 Ras proteins may modify carcinoma aggression. *J Pathology*, 1999, 187(4):433-8.
- 32. Rawlings JS, Rosler KM, Harrison DA. The JAK/STAT signaling pathway. J Cell Sci, 2004,

117(8):1281-1283.

- 33. Cortez D, Stoica G, Pierce JH, Pendergast AM. The BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase inhibits apoptosis by activating a Ras-dependent signaling pathway. *Oncogene*, 1996, 13(12):2589-2594.
- 34. Pendergast AM, Quilliam LA, Cripe LD, Bassing CH, Dai Z, Li N, Batzer A, Rabun KM, Der CJ, Schlessinger J. BCR-ABL-induced oncogenesis is mediated by direct interaction with the SH2 domain of the GRB-2 adaptor protein. *Cell*, 1993, 75(1):175-85.
- 35. Alroy I, Yarden Y. The ErbB signaling network in embryogenesis and oncogenesis: Signal diversification through combinatorial ligand-receptor interactions. *FEBS Lett*, 1997, 410:83–86.
- 36. Lowenstein EJ, Daly R J, Batzer A G, Li W, Margolis B, Lammers R, Ullrich A, Skolnik E Y, Bar-Sagi
  D, Schlessinger J. The SH2 and SH3 domain-containing protein GRB2 links receptor tyrosine kinases to ras signaling. *Cell*, 1992, 70 (3): 431–42
- 37. Prior IA, Lewis PD, Mattos C. A comprehensive survey of Ras mutations in cancer. *Cancer Res*, 2012, 72(10):2457-67.
- Forbes S, Clements J, Dawson E, Bamford S, Webb T, Dogan A, Flanagan A, Teague J, Wooster R, Futreal PA. Cosmic 2005. *Br J Cancer*, 2006, 94:318–322.
- 39. Markman B, Javier Ramos F, Capdevila J, Tabernero J. EGFR and KRAS in colorectal cancer. *Adv Clin Chem*, 2010, 51:71-119.
- 40. Magliano MP, Logsdon CD. Roles for KRAS in pancreatic tumor development and progression. *Gastroenterology*, 2013, 144(6):1220-1229.
- 41. Bacher U, Haferlach T, Schoch C, Kern W, Schnittger S. Implications of NRAS mutations in AML: a study of 2502 patients. *Blood*, 2006, 107(10):3847-53.
- 42. Fujita J, Kraus MH, Onoue H, Srivastava SK, Ebi Y, Kitamura Y, and Rhim JS. Activated H-ras Oncogenes in Human Kidney Tumors. *Cancer Res*, 1988, 48:5251-5255.

- 43. Knowles MA and Williamson M. Mutation of H-ras Is Infrequent in Bladder Cancer: Confirmation by Single-Strand Conformation Polymorphism Analysis, Designed Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphisms, and Direct Sequencing. *Cancer Res*, 1993, 53:133-139.
- 44. Guan JL, Zhong WZ, An SJ, Yang JJ, Su J, Chen ZH, Yan HH, Chen ZY, Huang ZM, Zhang XC, Nie Q, Wu YL. KRAS mutation in patients with lung cancer: a predictor for poor prognosis but not for EGFR-TKIs or chemotherapy. *Ann Surg Oncol*, 2013, 20(4):1381-1388.
- 45. Riely GJ, Marks J, Pao W. KRAS mutations in non-small cell lung cancer. *Proc Am Thorac Soc*, 2009, 6(2):201-205.
- 46. Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E. Cancer statistics, 2008, *CA Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 2008, 58(2):71–96.
- 47. H. H. Nelson, D. C. Christiani, E. J. Mark, J. K. Wiencke, J. C. Wain, and K. T. Kelsey, Implications and prognostic value of K-ras mutation for early-stage lung cancer in women. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 1999, 91(23):2032–2038.
- 48. Mao C, Qiu LX, Liao RY, Du FB, Ding H, Yang WC, Li J, Chen Q. KRAS mutations and resistance to EGFR-TKIs treatment in patients with non-small cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis of 22 studies. *Lung Cancer*, 2010, 69(3):272-278.
- 49. Campos-Parra AD, Zuloaga C, Manríquez ME, Avilés A, Borbolla-Escoboza J, Cardona A, Meneses A, Arrieta O. KRAS Mutation as the Biomarker of Response to Chemotherapy and EGFR-TKIs in Patients with Advanced Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: Clues for Its Potential Use in Second-Line Therapy Decision Making. *Am J Clin Oncol*. 2013.
- 50. Massarelli E, Varella-Garcia M, Tang X, Xavier AC, Ozburn NC, Liu DD, Bekele BN, Herbst RS, Wistuba II. KRAS mutation is an important predictor of resistance to therapy with epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors in non-small-cell lung

cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 2007, 13(10):2890-6.

- 51. Slatore CG, Gould MK, Au DH, Deffebach ME, White E. Lung cancer stage at diagnosis: Individual associations in the prospective VITamins and lifestyle (VITAL) cohort. *BMC Cancer*, 2011, 11:228.
- 52. Gloeckler Ries LA and Eisner MP. Cancer Sur vival Among Adults: U.S. SEER Program, 1988-2001, Chapter 9, Cancer of the Lung.
- 53. Davies BR, Logie A, McKay JS, Martin P, Steele S, Jenkins R, Cockerill M, Cartlidge S, Smith PD. AZD6244 (ARRY-142886), a potent inhibitor of mitogen-activated protein kinase/extracellular signal-regulated kinase kinase 1/2 kinases: mechanism of action in vivo, pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic relationship, and potential for combination in preclinical models. *Mol Cancer Ther*, 2007, 6(8):2209-2219.
- 54. Augustine CK, Toshimitsu H, Jung SH, Zipfel PA, Yoo JS, Yoshimoto Y, Selim MA, Burchette J, Beasley GM, McMahon N, Padussis J, Pruitt SK, Ali-Osman F, Tyler DS. Sorafenib, a Multikinase Inhibitor, Enhances the Response of Melanoma to Regional Chemotherapy. *Mol Cancer Ther*, 2010, 9(7):2090-2101.
- 55. Johnson BE, Heymach JV. Farnesyl transferase inhibitors for patients with lung cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research*, 2004, 10(12):42544257.
- 56. Appels NM, Beijnen JH, Schellens JH. Development of farnesyl transferase inhibitors: a review. *Oncologist*, 2005, 10(8):565-578.
- 57. Akinleye A, Furqan M, Mukhi N, Ravella P, Liu D. MEK and the inhibitors: from bench to bedside. *J Hematol Oncol. 2013*, 6:27.
- 58. Wakelee HA, Lee JW, Hanna NH, Traynor AM, Carbone DP, Schiller JH. A double-blind randomized discontinuation phase-II study of sorafenib (BAY 43-9006) in previously treated

non-small-cell lung cancer patients: eastern cooperative oncology group study E2501. *J Thorac Oncol*. 2012, 7(10):1574-1582.

- 59. Douglas R. Lowy. FUNCTION AND REGULATION OF RAS. Annu. Rev. Biochem, 1993, 62:851-891
- 60. Milojkovic Kerklaan B, Diéras V, Le Tourneau C, Mergui-Roelvink M, Huitema AD, Rosing H, Beijnen JH, Marreaud S, Govaerts AS, Piccart-Gebhart MJ,Schellens JH, Awada A. Phase I study of lonafarnib (SCH66336) in combination with trastuzumab plus paclitaxel in Her2/neu overexpressing breast cancer: EORTC study 16023. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol*, 2013, 71(1):53-62.
- 61. Gajewski TF, Salama AK, Niedzwiecki D, Johnson J, Linette G, Bucher C, Blaskovich MA, Sebti SM, Haluska F. Phase II study of the farnesyltransferase inhibitor R115777 in advanced melanoma (CALGB 500104). *J Transl Med*, 2012, 10:246.
- 62. Martin NE, Brunner TB, Kiel KD, DeLaney TF, Regine WF, Mohiuddin M, Rosato EF, Haller DG, Stevenson JP, Smith D, Pramanik B, Tepper J, Tanaka WK, Morrison B, Deutsch P, Gupta AK, Muschel RJ, McKenna WG, Bernhard EJ, Hahn SM. A phase I trial of the dual farnesyltransferase and geranylgeranyltransferase inhibitor L-778,123 and radiotherapy for locally advanced pancreatic cancer. *Clin Cancer Res*, 2004, 10(16):5447-54.
- 63. Cox AD, Garcia AM, Westwick JK, Kowalczyk JJ, Lewis MD, Brenner DA, Der CJ. The CAAX peptidomimetic compound B581 specifically blocks farnesylated, but not geranylgeranylated ormyristylated, oncogenic ras signaling and transformation. *J Biol Chem*, 1994, 269(30):19203-6.
- 64. Shaw AT, Yeap BY, Solomon BJ, Riely GJ, Gainor J, Engelman JA, Shapiro GI, Costa DB, Ou SH, Butaney M, Salgia R, Maki RG, Varella-Garcia M, Doebele RC, Bang YJ, Kulig K, Selaru P, Tang Y, Wilner KD, Kwak EL, Clark JW, Iafrate AJ, Camidge DR. Effect of crizotinib on overall survival in

patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer harbouring ALK gene rearrangement: a retrospective analysis. *Lancet Oncol*, 2011, 12(11):1004-12.

- 65. Vecchione L, Jacobs B, Normanno N, Ciardiello F, Tejpar S. EGFR-targeted therapy. *Experimental cell research*, 2011, 317(19):2765-71.
- 66. Shimizu T, Tolcher AW, Papadopoulos KP, Beeram M, Rasco DW, Smith LS, Gunn S, Smetzer L, Mays TA, Kaiser B, Wick MJ, Alvarez C, Cavazos A, Mangold GL, Patnaik A. The clinical effect of the dual-targeting strategy involving PI3K/AKT/mTOR and RAS/MEK/ERK pathways in patients with advanced cancer. *Clin Cancer Res*, 2012, 18(8):2316-25.
- 67. D'Arcangelo M, Cappuzzo F. K-Ras Mutations in Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: Prognostic and Predictive Value. *ISRN Molecular Biology*, 2012, 2012:1-8.
- 68. Suda K, Tomizawa K, Mitsudomi T. Biological and clinical significance of KRAS mutations in lung cancer: an oncogenic driver that contrasts with EGFR mutation. *Cancer Metastasis Rev*, 2010, 29(1):49-60.
- 69. Ohshima S, Shimizu Y, Takahama M. Detection of c-Ki-ras gene mutation in paraffin sections of adenocarcinoma and atypical bronchioloalveolar cell hyperplasia of human lung. *Virchows Arch*, 1994, 424(2):129-34.
- 70. Westra WH, Slebos RJ, Offerhaus GJ, Goodman SN, Evers SG, Kensler TW, Askin FB, Rodenhuis S, Hruban RH. K-ras oncogene activation in lung adenocarcinomas from former smokers. Evidence that K-ras mutations are an early and irreversible event in the development of adenocarcinoma of the lung. *Cancer*, 1993, 72(2):432-8.
- 71. Keith RL. Chemoprevention of lung cancer. *Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society*. 2009, 6(2):187-193.
- 72. American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts & Figures, Atlanta: American Cancer Society, 2013, p1.

- 73. Karakosta A, Golias Ch, Charalabopoulos A, Peschos D, Batistatou A, Charalabopoulos K. Genetic models of human cancer as a multistep process. Paradigm models of colorectal cancer, breast cancer, and chronic myelogenous and acute lymphoblastic leukaemia. J Exp Clin Cancer Res, 2005, 24(4):505-14
- 74. William WN, Jr., Heymach JV, Kim ES, Lippman SM. Molecular targets for cancer chemoprevention. *Nature reviews Drug discovery*, 2009, 8(3):213-25.
- 75. Waters EA, McNeel TS, Stevens WM, Freedman AN. Use of tamoxifen and raloxifene for breast cancer chemoprevention in 2010. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*, 2012, 134(2):875-80.
- 76. Cauley JA, Norton L, Lippman ME, Eckert S, Krueger KA, Purdie DW, Farrerons J, Karasik A, Mellstrom D, Ng KW, Stepan JJ, Powles TJ, Morrow M, Costa A, Silfen SL, Walls EL, Schmitt H, Muchmore DB, Jordan VC, Ste-Marie LG. Continued Breast Cancer Risk Reduction in Postmenopausal Women Treated with Raloxifene: 4-Year Results from the MORE Trial. *Breast Cancer Res Treat*, 2001, 65(2):125-34.
- 77. Russell M, Raheja V, Jaiyesimi R. Human papillomavirus vaccination in adolescence. *Perspect Public Health*, 2013 Sep 4.
- 78. Kim B, Giardiello FM. Chemoprevention in familial adenomatous polyposis. *Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol*, 2011, 25(4-5):607-22.
- 79. Gilbert DJ. Treatment of actinic keratoses with sequential combination of 5-fluorouracil and photodynamic therapy. *J Drugs Dermatol*, 2005, 4(2):161-3.
- Reddy BS, Kawamori T, Lubet RA, Steele VE, Kelloff GJ, Rao CV. Chemopreventive Efficacy of Sulindac Sulfone against Colon Cancer Depends on Time of Administration during Carcinogenic Process. *Cancer Res*, 1999, 59(14):3387-91.
- 81. Chan AT, Arber N, Burn J, Chia WK, Elwood P, Hull MA, Logan RF, Rothwell PM, Schrör K, Baron JA. Aspirin in the chemoprevention of colorectal neoplasia: an overview. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila)*,

2012, 5(2):164-78.

- 82. Lazzeroni M, Decensi A. Breast cancer prevention by antihormones and other drugs: where do we stand? *Hematol Oncol Clin North Am*, 2013, 27(4):657-72.
- 83. Shureiqi I, Baron JA. Curcumin chemoprevention: the long road to clinical translation. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila)*, 2011, 4(3):296-8.
- 84. Lamartiniere CA, Cotroneo MS, Fritz WA, Wang J, Mentor-Marcel R, Elgavish A. Genistein chemoprevention: timing and mechanisms of action in murine mammary and prostate. *J Nutrition*, 2002, 132(3):552-558.
- 85. Surh YJ. Cancer chemoprevention with dietary phytochemicals. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 2003, 3(10):768-80.
- 86. Sandler AB, Dubinett SM. COX-2 inhibition and lung cancer. *Semin Oncol*, 2004, 31(2 Suppl 7):45-52.
- 87. Harris RE, Beebe-Donk J, Schuller HM. Chemoprevention of lung cancer by non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs among cigarette smokers. *Oncology reports*, 2002, 9(4):693-695.
- 88. Wu X, Patterson S, Hawk E. Chemoprevention--history and general principles. *Best practice & research Clinical gastroenterology*, 2011, 25(4-5):445-59.
- 89. Keith RL and Miller YE. Lung cancer chemoprevention: current status and future prospects, *Nature Reviews, Clinical Oncology*, 2013, 10:334-343.
- 90. Hennekens, C. H. et al. Lack of effect of long-term supplementation with beta carotene on the incidence of malignant neoplasms and cardiovascular disease. *The N. Engl. J. Med.* 1996, 334:1145–1149.
- 91. Omenn, G. S. et al. Effects of a combination of beta carotene and vitamin A on lung cancer and cardiovascular disease. *The N. Engl. J. Med*, 1996, 334:1150–1155.
- 92. Blumberg, J. & Block, G. The Alpha-Tocopherol, Beta-Carotene Cancer Prevention Study in

Finland. Nutr. Rev., 1994, 52:242–245.

- 93. Van Zandwijk, N., Dalesio, O., Pastorino, U., de Vries, N. & vVn Tinteren, H. EUROSCAN. A randomized trial of vitamin A and N-acetylcysteine in patients with head and neck cancer or lung cancer. For the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Head and Neck and Lung Cancer Cooperative Groups. *J. Natl Cancer Inst*, 2000, 92:977–986.
- 94. Steering Committee of the Physicians' Health Study Research Group. Final report on the aspirin component of the ongoing Physicians' Health Study. *N. Engl. J. Med*, 1989, 32:129–135.
- 95. Cook NR, Lee IM, Gaziano JM, Gordon D, Ridker PM, Manson JE, Hennekens CH, Buring JE. Lowdose aspirin in the primary prevention of cancer: the Women's Health Study: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*, 2005, 294:47–55.
- 96. Keith, R. L. et al. Oral iloprost improves endobronchial dysplasia in former smokers. *Cancer Prev. Res. (Phila.)*, 2011, 4:793–802.
- 97. Kim, E. S. et al. Biological activity of celecoxib in the bronchial epithelium of current and former smokers. *Cancer Prev. Res. (Phila.)*, 2010, 3:148–159.
- 98. Harris RE, Beebe-Donk J, Schuller HM. Chemoprevention of lung cancer by non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs among cigarette smokers. *Oncology Reports*, 2002, 9(4):693-5.
- 99. Mao JT, Cui X, Reckamp K, Liu M, Krysan K, Dalwadi H. Chemoprevention strategies with cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors for lung cancer. Clinical lung cancer, 2005, 7(1):30-39.
- 100. Mao JT, Roth MD, Fishbein MC, Aberle DR, Zhang ZF, Rao JY. Lung cancer chemoprevention with celecoxib in former smokers. Cancer Prev. Res. (Phila.), 2011, 4(7):984-93.
- 101. Lippman, S. M. & Hawk, E. T. Cancer prevention: from 1727 to milestones of the past 100 years. Cancer Res., 2009, 69:5269–5284.
- 102. Wu X, Lippman SM. An intermittent approach for cancer chemoprevention. Nature Reviews

Cancer, 2011, 11(12):879-85.

- 103. Basu B, Sandhu SK, de Bono JS. PARP inhibitors: mechanism of action and their potential role in the prevention and treatment of cancer. *Drugs*, 2012, 72(12):1579-90.
- 104. Zhang L, Ren X, Alt E, Bai X, Huang S, Xu Z, Wu X. Chemoprevention of colorectal cancer by targeting APC-deficient cells for apoptosis. *Nature*, 2010, 464(7291):1058-61.
- Suzanne M, Steller H. Shaping organisms with apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ*, 2013, 20(5):669-75.
- Elmore S. Apoptosis: A Review of Programmed Cell Death. *Toxicol Pathol*, 2007, 35(4): 495–516.
- 107. Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J. *Molecular Biology of the Cell*. 4th edition, 2002, Chapter 15, Page 321-323
- 108. Fan TJ, Han LH, Cong RS, Liang J. Caspase family proteases and apoptosis. *Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai)*, 2005, 37(11):719-27.
- 109. Tait S & Green DR. Mitochondria and cell death: outer membrane permeabilization and beyond. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 2010, 11:621-632.
- 110. Granville DJ, Cassidy BA, Ruehlmann DO, Choy JC, Brenner C, Kroemer G, van Breemen C, Margaron P, Hunt DW, McManus BM. Mitochondrial release of apoptosis-inducing factor and cytochrome c during smooth muscle cell apoptosis. *Am J Pathol*, 2001, 159(1):305-11.
- Perkins CL, Fang G, Kim CN, Bhalla KN. The role of Apaf-1, caspase-9, and bid proteins in etoposide- or paclitaxel-induced mitochondrial events during apoptosis. *Cancer Res*, 2000, 60(6):1645-53.
- 112. Wang L, Du F, Wang X. TNF-alpha induces two distinct caspase-8 activation pathways. Cell,

2008, 133(4):693-703.

- 113. Fulda S and Debatin K-M. Extrinsic versus intrinsic apoptosis pathways in anticancer chemotherapy. *Oncogene*, 2006, 25:4798–4811.
- 114. Kim WJ, Choi EJ, Joe CO. Activation of death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) by proapoptotic C-terminal fragment of RIP. *Oncogene*, 2000, 19:4491-4499.
- 115. Wong RS. Apoptosis in cancer: from pathogenesis to treatment. *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research*, 2011, 30:87.
- Gerl R and Vaux DL. Apoptosis in the development and treatment of cancer, *Carcinogenesis*, 2005, 26(2):263–270.
- 117. Igney FH and Krammer PH. Immune escape of tumors: apoptosis resistance and tumor counterattack. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 2002, 71(6):907-920.
- 118. Vogler M, Hamali HA, Sun XM, Bampton ET, Dinsdale D, Snowden RT, Dyer MJ, Goodall AH, Cohen GM. BCL2/BCL-XL inhibition induces apoptosis, disrupts cellular calcium homeostasis, and prevents platelet activation. *Blood*, 2011, 117(26):7145-54.
- 119. Spee B, Jonkers MD, Arends B, Rutteman GR, Rothuizen J, Penning LC. Specific downregulation of XIAP with RNA interference enhances the sensitivity of canine tumor cell-lines to TRAIL and doxorubicin. *Mol Cancer*, 2006, 5:34.
- 120. Chan JY, Tan BK, Lee SC. Scutellarin sensitizes drug-evoked colon cancer cell apoptosis through enhanced caspase-6 activation. *Anticancer Res*, 2009, 29(8):3043-7.
- 121. Pemble SE, Wardle AF, Taylor JB. Glutathione S-transferase class Kappa: characterization by the cloning of rat mitochondrial GST and identification of a human homologue. *Biochem J*, 1996, 319(3):749-54.
- 122. Ren YG, Wagner KW, Knee DA, Aza-Blanc P, Nasoff M, Deveraux QL. Differential Regulation

of the TRAIL Death Receptors DR4 and DR5 by the Signal Recognition Particle. *Mol Biol Cell,* 2004, 15(11):5064-74.

- 123. Sprick MR, Weigand MA, Rieser E, Rauch CT, Juo P, Blenis J, Krammer PH, Walczak H. FADD/MORT1 and caspase-8 are recruited to TRAIL receptors 1 and 2 and are essential for apoptosis mediated by TRAIL receptor 2. *Immunity*, 2000, 12(6):599-609.
- 124. Kischkel FC, Lawrence DA, Chuntharapai A, Schow P, Kim KJ, Ashkenazi A. Apo2L/TRAILdependent recruitment of endogenous FADD and caspase-8 to death receptors 4 and 5. *Immunity*, 2000, 12(6):611-20.
- 125. Bellail AC, Qi L, Mulligan P, Chhabra V, Hao C. TRAIL agonists on clinical trials for cancer therapy: the promises and the challenges. *Reviews on recent clinical trials*, 2009, 4(1):34-41.
- 126. Corazza N, Kassahn D, Jakob S, Badmann A, Brunner T. TRAIL-induced apoptosis: between tumor therapy and immunopathology. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 2009, 1171:50-8.
- 127. Safa AR and Pollok KE. Targeting the Anti-Apoptotic Protein c-FLIP for Cancer Therapy. *Cancers*, 2011, 3:1639-1671
- 128. Zinonos I, Labrinidis A, Lee M, Liapis V, Hay S, Ponomarev V, et al. Apomab. A fully human agonistic antibody to DR5, exhibits potent antitumor activity against primary and metastatic breast cancer. *Molecular cancer therapeutics,* 2009, 8(10):2969-80.
- 129. Mom CH, Verweij J, Oldenhuis CN, Gietema JA, Fox NL, Miceli R, et al. Mapatumumab, a fully human agonistic monoclonal antibody that targets TRAIL-R1, in combination with gemcitabine and cisplatin: a phase I study. *Clinical cancer research*, 2009, 15(17):5584-90.
- 130. Shepard BD, Badley AD. The Biology of TRAIL and the Role of TRAIL-Based Therapeutics in Infectious Diseases. *Anti-infective agents in medicinal chemistry*, 2009, 8(2):87-101.
- 131. Zhang L, Fang B. Mechanisms of resistance to TRAIL-induced apoptosis in cancer. Cancer

Gene Ther, 2005, 12(3):228-37.

- 132. Kim K, Fisher MJ & Xu SQ. Molecular determinants of response to TRAIL in killing of normal and cancer cells. *Clin Cancer Res,* 2000, 6: 335–346.
- 133. Eggert A, Grotzer MA & Zuzak TJ. Resistance to tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosisinducing ligand (TRAIL)-induced apoptosis in neuroblastoma cells correlates with a loss of caspase-8 expression. *Cancer Res*, 2001, 61(4):1314-9.
- 134. Ng CP & Bonavida B. X-linked inhibitor of apoptosis (XIAP) blocks Apo2 ligand/tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand-mediated apoptosis of prostate cancer cells in the presence of mitochondrial activation: sensitization by overexpression of second mitochondria-derived activator of caspase/direct IAP-binding protein with low pl (Smac/DIABLO). *Mol Cancer Ther*, 2002, 1:1051–1058.
- Salvesen GS, Duckett CS. IAP proteins: blocking the road to death's door. *Nature Reviews* Molecular Cell Biology. 2002, 3(6):401-10.
- 136. Deng Y, Ren X, Yang L, Lin Y, Wu X. A JNK-dependent pathway is required for TNFalphainduced apoptosis. *Cell*. 2003, 115(1):61-70.
- 137. Zobel K, Wang L, Varfolomeev E, Franklin MC, Elliott LO, Wallweber HJ, Okawa DC, Flygare JA, Vucic D, Fairbrother WJ, Deshayes K. Design, synthesis, and biological activity of a potent Smac mimetic that sensitizes cancer cells to apoptosis by antagonizing IAPs. *ACS Chem Biol*, 2006, 1(8):525-33.
- Cleveland J. Targeting XIAP for the treatment of malignancy. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 2006, 13:179–188.
- Du C, Fang M, Li Y, Li L, Wang X. Smac, a Mitochondrial Protein that Promotes Cytochrome c–Dependent Caspase Activation. *Cell*, 2000, 102(1):33-42.
- 140. Wang H and Clem RJ. The role of IAP antagonist proteins in the core apoptosis pathway of

the mosquito disease vector Aedes aegypti. Apoptosis, 2011, 16(3): 245-248

- 141. Amaravadi RK, Senzer NN, Martin LP, Schilder RJ, LoRusso P, Papadopoulos KP, Weng DE, Graham M, Adjei AA. A phase I study of birinapant (TL32711) combined with multiple chemotherapies evaluating tolerability and clinical activity for solid tumor patients. *2013 ASCO Annual Meeting*, Absctract# 2504.
- 142. Study of LCL161 in Combination with Weekly Paclitaxel in Adult Patients with Advanced Solid Tumors. Clinicaltrials.gov, 2011.
- 143. Tolcher AW, Papadopoulos KP, Patnaik A, Fairbrother WJ, Wong H, Budha NR, Darbonne WC, Peale FV, Mamounas MJ, Royer-Joo S, Yu R, Portera CC, Bendell JC, Burris HA, Infante JR. Phase I Study of Safety and Pharmacokinetics of GDC-0917, an Antagonist of Inhibitor of Apoptosis Proteins in Patients with Refractory Solid Tumors or Lymphoma, 2013 ASCO Annual Meeting, abstract# 2503.
- 144. A Study of HGS1029 in Subjects with Relapsed or Refractory Lymphoid Malignancies Human Genome Sciences Inc. Clinicaltrials.gov, 2011.
- 145. McKinlay DMA. SMAC MIMETICS: a new class of targeted agents that activate apoptotic cell death and block pro-survival signalling in cancer cells. *Therapeutics*. 2011.
- 146. Probst BL, Liu L, Ramesh V, Li L, Sun H, Minna JD, Wang L. Smac mimetics increase cancer cell response to chemotherapeutics in a TNF-α-dependent manner, *Cell Death Differ*, 2010, 17(10):1645-54.
- 147. Magudia K, Lahoz A, Hall A. K-Ras and B-Raf oncogenes inhibit colon epithelial polarity establishment through up-regulation of c-myc. *J Cell Biol.* 2012, 198(2):185-94.
- 148. Wang L, Du F, Wang X. TNF-α Induces Two Distinct Caspase-8 Activation Pathways. *Cell*, 2008, 133(4):693-703.
- 149. Greer RM, Peyton M, Larsen JE, Girard L, Xie Y, Gazdar AF, Harran P, Wang L, Brekken RA, Wang

X, Minna JD. SMAC Mimetic (JP1201) Sensitizes Non–Small Cell Lung Cancers to Multiple Chemotherapy Agents in an IAP-Dependent but TNF- $\alpha$ –Independent Manner. *Cancer Res.* 2011, 71(24):7640-7648.

- 150. Cho HC, Lai CY, Shao LE, Yu J. Identification of Tumorigenic Cells in*KrasG12D*-Induced Lung Adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Res.* 2011, 71(23):7250-8.
- 151. Oikonomou E, Kosmidou V, Katseli A, Kothonidis K, Mourtzoukou D, Kontogeorgos G, Andera L, Zografos G, Pintzas A. TRAIL receptor upregulation and the implication of KRAS/BRAF mutations in human colon cancer tumors. *Int J Cancer*. 2009, 125(9):2127-35.
- 152. Wang Y, Engels IH, Knee DA, Nasoff M, Deveraux QL, Quon KC. Synthetic lethal targeting of MYC by activation of the DR5 death receptor pathway. Cancer Cell. 2004, 5(5):501-12.
- 153. Liu X, Yue P, Khuri FR, Sun SY. p53 Upregulates Death Receptor 4 Expression through an Intronic p53 Binding Site. *Cancer Res.* 2004, 64(15):5078-83.
- 154. Lim SM, Kim TH, Jiang HH, Park CW, Lee S, Chen X, et al. Improved biological half-life and anti-tumor activity of TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) using PEG-exposed nanoparticles. *Biomaterials*, 2011, 32(13):3538-46.
- 155. Szegezdi E, Reis CR, van der Sloot AM, Natoni A, O'Reilly A, Reeve J, et al. Targeting AML through DR4 with a novel variant of rhTRAIL. *Journal of cellular and molecular medicine*, 2011, 15(10):2216-31.
- 156. Liu GY J, Thompson-Lanza JA. A Genetically Defined Model for Human Ovarian Cancer. *Cancer research*. 2004, 64(5):1655-63.
- 157. Ashkenazi A, Pai RC, Fong S, Leung S, Lawrence DA, Marsters SA, Blackie C, Chang L, McMurtrey AE, Hebert A, DeForge L, Koumenis IL, Lewis D, Harris L, Bussiere J, Koeppen H, Shahrokh Z, Schwall RH. Safety and antitumor activity of recombinant soluble Apo2 ligand. *J Clin Invest*, 1999, 104(2):155-62.

- 158. Yang G, Rosen DG, Zhang Z, Bast RC Jr, Mills GB, Colacino JA, Mercado-Uribe I, Liu J.. The chemokine growth-regulated oncogene 1 (Gro-1) links RAS signaling to the senescence of stromal fibroblasts and ovarian tumorigenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci,* 2006, 103(44):16472-7.
- 159. Jackson EL, Willis N, Mercer K, Bronson RT, Crowley D, Montoya R. Analysis of lung tumor initiation and progression using conditional expression of oncogenic K-ras. *Genes & Development*, 2001, 15(24):3243-8.
- 160. Jackson EL, Olive KP, Tuveson DA, Bronson R, Crowley D, Brown M. The differential effects of mutant p53 alleles on advanced murine lung cancer. *Cancer Research*, 2005, 65(22):10280-8.
- 161. Xue X, Sun DF, Sun CC, Liu HP, Yue B, Zhao CR. Inhibitory effect of riccardin D on growth of human non-small cell lung cancer: in vitro and in vivo studies. *Lung cancer*, 2012, 76(3):300-8.
- 162. Garassino MC, Marabese M, Rusconi P, Rulli E, Martelli O, Farina G, Scanni A, Broggini M. Different types of K-Ras mutations could affect drug sensitivity and tumour behaviour in nonsmall-cell lung cancer. *Ann Oncol*, 2011, 22(1):235-7.
- 163. Kang MH and Reynolds CP. Bcl-2 Inhibitors: Targeting Mitochondrial Apoptotic Pathways in cancer therapy. *Clin Cancer Res*, 2009, 15:1126-1132.
- 164. MacVicar GR, Kuzel TM, Curti BD. An openlabel, multicenter, phase I/II study of AT-101 in combination with docetaxel (D) and prednisone (P) in men with hormone refractory prostate cancer (HRPC). *J Clin Oncol*, 2008, 26:16048.
- 165. Roberts A, Gandhi L, O'Connor OA. Reduction in platelet counts as a mechanistic biomarker and guide for adaptive dose-escalation in phase I studies of the Bcl-2 family inhibitor ABT-263. *J Clin Oncol,* 2008, 26:3542.

## VITA

Shaoyi Huang was born in Wuhan, China, on June 7<sup>th</sup>, 1979. He received the degree of Bachelor of Science with a major in Microbiology form Wuhan University, China in 2001 fall and the degree of Master of Science with a major of Microbiology from Wuhan University (mentor: Dr. Chengxiang Fang) in 2004 winter. In August of 2005, he entered Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences, the University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston to pursue his doctoral degree in Dr. Yinhua Yu's lab in M. D. Anderson Cancer Center. Then he transferred to Dr. Xiangwei Wu's lab in M.D. Anderson Cancer Center in 2007 fall because Dr. Yu left the institution. Thus far, his work in Dr. Wu and Dr. Yu's lab has resulted in 2 first-author articles and 2 co-author articles.